

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

# Educators' Perspectives Regarding Challenges Implementing the HighScope Curriculum and Support Needed

Charmaine Christopher *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Curriculum and Instruction Commons, and the Pre-Elementary, Early Childhood, Kindergarten Teacher Education Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

## Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Charmaine Christopher

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Rebecca Curtis, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Donna Brackin, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Barbara Schirmer, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2021

Abstract

Educators' Perspectives Regarding Challenges Implementing the HighScope Curriculum

and Support Needed

by

Charmaine Christopher

MEd, University of the West Indies, 2006 BEd, University of the West Indies, 2012

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

May 2021

#### Abstract

Since 2008, the Ministry of Education in Grenada, where this study took place, started curriculum reform with the implementation of the HighScope curriculum in preschools. The problem is that many teachers faced challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges when implementing the HighScope curriculum, which involves balancing child-initiated and teacher-directed activities, and the support they need for executing the curriculum effectively. The conceptual frameworks that guided the study were Vygotsky's sociocultural theory and Piaget's theory of cognitive development. Both theories reinforce the need for children to be social and active in the learning process. A total of 14 participants were recruited for this study: 12 preschool teachers, including three preschool teachers from four different preschools, and two early childhood education officers. Open coding and thematic analysis were used during data analysis. The key findings related to challenges included: lack of resources, educators' resistance to curriculum change, and insufficient support provided for teachers. Teacher participants also revealed a need for increased professional development and training to support teachers, provision of teaching and learning materials, frequent supervision and monitoring by early childhood education officers, and parental involvement and Education. Results have implications for positive social change that could lead to policy changes to improve training for teachers, additional resources allocated to the classroom, and methods to improve the implementation of the HighScope curriculum that could lead to better outcomes for children.

### Educators' Perspectives Regarding Challenges Implementing the HighScope Curriculum

and Support Needed

by

Charmaine Christopher

MEd, University of the West Indies, 2006 BEd, University of the West Indies, 2012

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

May 2020

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to give thanks first and foremost to Almighty God for the ability to complete my study. God is indeed my source of strength. I want to thank my committee chair, Dr. Rebecca Curtis, for your knowledge, expertise, your willingness to always be available and your clear feedback and guidance. Thank you for seeing my potential and your encouragement to achieve my goals. I would like to express sincere appreciation to Dr. Donna Brackin, my second committee member, for taking the time to thoroughly review my work and provide clear feedback.

To my daughter Trisha: This is for you! As a mother, I kept reaching for my goals to show you that you can achieve anything with hard work and determination. Thanks for the encouragement and support. Thank you dad, you supported me throughout this journey. To my friends, Susan Parke, Cynthia Isaac and Dr. Astra McKenzie, thank you for your encouragement as you helped keep my spirit positive through the years. You cheered me on! I have been blessed by God to have each one of you with me on this journey.

List of Tables	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of the Study	6
Research Questions	6
Conceptual Framework	7
Nature of the Study	9
Definitions	10
Assumptions	12
Scope and Delimitations	12
Limitations	14
Significance	15
Summary	16
Chapter 2: Literature Review	18
Literature Search Strategy	18
Conceptual Framework	19
Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variable	26
Summary and Conclusions	53
Chapter 3: Research Method	50
Research Design and Rationale	50
Role of the Researcher	53

## Table of Contents

Methodology	55
Participant Selection	53
Instrumentation	57
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	58
Data Analysis Plan	60
Trustworthiness	61
Ethical Procedures	64
Summary	65
Chapter 4: Results	67
Setting	67
Data Collection	68
Data Analysis	71
Results	73
Evidence of Trustworthiness	90
Summary	94
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	95
Interpretation of the Findings	96
Limitations of the Study	104
Recommendations	104
Implications	106
Conclusion	106
References	108
Appendix A:Interview Questions for Preschool Teachers	129

Appendix B:Interview	Questions for ECE Officer	131
----------------------	---------------------------	-----

## List of Tables

Table 1. Themes and Categories Based on Research Question 1	74
Table 2. Themes and Categories Based on Research Question 2	84

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

The early years of a child's life involve healthy development and opportunities to have academic success (Addisu & Wudu, 2019; Crampton & Hall, 2017). This early period is critical for children's social, emotional, physical, and cognitive development. Kimosop (2018) said there was a need for effective implementation of early childhood curriculum with adequate support for teachers. Teachers play a critical role in curriculum implementation, and at times, they are faced with challenges during the process (Mligo, 2016). In this study, I focused on the many challenges teachers face implementing the HighScope curriculum, which involves balancing child-initiated and teacher-directed activities, and the support they may need for effective implementation. The need to understand challenges teachers face and support needed for implement the curriculum. As a result, this can impact the future of young children, thus bringing about positive social change both for students and educators.

In Chapter 1, an overview of the study is presented. This chapter includesa summary of background literature on curriculum implementation. The problem statement, purpose of the study, research questions, conceptual framework, nature of the study, definitions of keys concepts or constructs, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and significance to social change are presented in this chapter. Chapter 1 ends with a summary of the main points and a transition to Chapter 2.

#### Background

Teachers face many challenges balancing child-initiated and teacher-directed activities while attempting to implement the curriculum effectively (Charles & Williams, 2018; Riley-Ayers & Figueras-Daniel, 2018). The HighScope curriculum is a structured curriculum that focuses on active participatory learning (Rajab & Wright, 2018), and is aligned with a child-centered approach as it involves active learning in which children learn from interactions with peers, adults, and materials (Gulcicek et al., 2019). In implementing a preschool curriculum that used a child-centered approach, Mligo (2016) found that early childhood educators faced many challenges implementing the curriculum such as lack of knowledge of child-centered pedagogy and inadequate teaching and learning materials, and did not receive support implementing the curriculum. Ntumi (2016) found that preschool teachers faced challenges in implementing early childhood curriculum. Ntumi (2016) noted that teachers did not understand curriculum and had limited learning and teaching materials needed to implement it.

In this study, the conceptual framework is Piaget's and Vygotsky's theories related to cognitive development. These theories involve how an individual perceives, thinks, understands, and learns. Piaget (1926) said children construct their own knowledge through interaction with the social and physical environment. Active learning is a key tenet of Piaget's theory. Vygotsky (1986) said children's thinking is guided by their social interactions with competent others and cultural contexts. Social interaction can enhance children's mental language and social development (Gordon & Browne, 2017). Interactions with competent helpers such as caregivers, peers, parents, and teachers can lead to meaningful assistance for children as they develop cognitive skills. Through direct experiences with the environment, children's cognitive skills can be developed. Therefore, social interaction is critical in the teaching and learning process (Omaga &Alieto, 2019). As a result, early childhood educators and caregivers play an important role in facilitating learning in young children.

Piaget's and Vygotsky's theories form the basis for curriculum principles and practice in early childhood programs. Based on the tenets of these theorists, one can gain knowledge and understanding of how children learn, grow, and develop. The HighScope curriculum is grounded in Piaget's and Vygotsky's theories. Experiences provided through the HighScope curriculum are the core of the learning process and are based on cognitive theories of how children learn. The constructivist approach is the belief that children actively seek knowledge (Gordon & Browne, 2017). The constructivist approach involves the active role children play in learning (Gordon & Browne, 2017). As a result, the constructivist classroom is child- and learning-centered where children are active and initiate learning activities, and teachers provide a rich social environment that supports social interactions (Gordon & Browne, 2017). Therefore, early childhood programs and curriculum that promote active participation in a child-centered learning environment effectively support development in cognitive, language, social-emotional, and motor skills (Aktulun & Kiziltepe, 2018; Roessingh & Bence, 2019). As a result, quality early childhood programs and curriculums are important in the instructional process (Slavin & Chambers, 2017).

In this study, I build on existing research regarding curriculum implementation in early childhood settings. I seek to fill the gap in practice, as there is no research that has been conducted in Grenada that explores perspectives of early childhood educators regarding challenges in terms of implementing HighScope curriculum, and the support they need executing the curriculum effectively. Increasing the understanding of challenges teachers face can lead to finding ways to effectively implement the curriculum. As a result, this can impact the future of young children, thus bringing about positive social change both for students and educators.

#### **Problem Statement**

The problem is that many teachers face challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum, which may need additional support in order to execute curriculum effectively. Mligo (2016) said early childhood educators face many challenges such as lack of knowledge of child-centered pedagogies that were required, qualification in the area of early childhood education, overcrowded classrooms, poor learning environments, and inadequate teaching and learning materials. There is an increase in the number of children entering prekindergarten and preschools in the United States (Child Trends, 2019). The percentage of children enrolled in prekindergarten and preschool programs increased from 21% in 1994 to 30% in 2017 (Child Trends, 2019). According to the Organization of Eastern Caribbean States (2017), for the academic year 2015 to 2016, 88.4% of preschoolers (3, 4, and 5 year-olds) attended preschools in Grenada. The quality of early childhood programs determines children's readiness for primary school and performance levels (Haslip & Gullo, 2018). High-quality early childhood programs have

positively influenced development in all areas for young children, which results in a positive impact on school readiness (Bailey et al., 2017; Bakken et al., 2017; Lipsey et al., 2018). Early childhood curriculum is a key component of an effective early childhood program through which goals for child development are achieved (Akinrotimi & Olowe, 2016). Teachers play a critical role in early childhood curriculum implementation (Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019; Ntumi, 2016; Nyland & Ng, 2016).

Since 2008, the Ministry of Education in Grenada, where this study took place, started curriculum reform with the implementation of the HighScope curriculum in the preschools. The HighScope curriculum is a structured curriculum that focuses on active participatory learning as children are involved in a balance of child-initiated and teacherplanned activities (Charles & Williams, 2018; Rajab & Wright, 2018), and clearly aligns with a child-centered approach curriculum. Based on emerging research, there is a move towards child-centered approach curriculum (Peckham, 2017; Vaishali & Misra, 2019). A child-centered curriculum involves emphasis on children's interest, active learning, and play-based teaching and learning (Muller et al., 2018; Ozturk, 2016; Sharkins et al., 2017). The HighScope curriculum is aligned with this approach as it involves active learning in which children learn from interactions with peers, adults, and materials (Gulcicek et al., 2019).

Although researchers have focused on the challenges faced by the teachers in implementing new curriculum that is play-based or child-centered, few researchers have explored the perspectives of early childhood educators about the challenges in terms of implementing HighScope curriculum and the support they need implementing the curriculum effectively. Since this study took place outside of the U.S., this study was needed to fill the gap in practice, as there is no research that has been conducted in Grenada that explores perspectives of early childhood educators regarding challenges in terms of implementing HighScope curriculum, and the support they need executing the curriculum effectively.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators regarding the challenges involved with implementing HighScope curriculum, and the support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively. According to Krahenbuhl (2016), teachers' voices need to be heard to adopt and use child-centered approaches to teaching and learning. There is a need for greater understanding of challenges when implementing the HighScope curriculum and support educators need to implement the curriculum effectively in Grenada. Teachers are critical to the effective implementation of the curriculum (Ntumi, 2016), and the support teachers feel they need can provide direction in terms of helping them with overcoming challenges of curriculum implementation (Baron et al., 2016; Krahenbuhl, 2016). In this basic qualitative study, I seek to fill the gap in practice by exploring the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum, and the support they need in order to execute the curriculum effectively.

#### **Research Questions**

*RQ1:* What are the perspectives of early childhood educators about the challenges involved with implementing theHighScope curriculum in Grenada?

6

*RQ2:* What support do early childhood educators perceive they need to execute the HighScope curriculum effectively in Grenada?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this study is based on Piaget's and Vygotsky's theories relating to cognitive development as the basis for curriculum design, principles, and practices. These theories involve how an individual perceives, thinks, understands, and learns. Piaget's theory of cognitive development forms the basis of the HighScope curriculum. It involves the context in terms of how young children learn. Knowledge and skills are built via a continuous process that involves modifying understandings that children bring to every situation. Piaget (1926) said the opportunity to be physically and mentally involved in learning is important for cognitive development during the early years. This helped in understanding what is involved in implementing a child-centered curriculum.

The conceptual framework for this study is also based on Vygotsky's sociocultural theory. This was the contextual lens for understanding the roles teachers play during the teaching and learning process. Vygotsky's theory involves children's thinking as guided by social interactions with competent others and cultural contexts. Social interaction can enhance children's mental language and social development (Gordon & Browne, 2017). Interactions with competent helpers such as caregivers, peers, parents, and teachers can provide lead to assistance for children as they develop cognitive skills. These aspects of the sociocultural theory of cognitive development guided my understanding of how the role of the teacher and caregiver facilitate learning in young

children during the implementation of the HighScope curriculum. As a result, it was used for guidance in terms of how cognitive development is fostered during the early years.

Piaget and Vygotsky's theories were the conceptual frameworks for my study, and they were critical for understanding the challenges early childhood educators face implementing the HighScope curriculum and the support they need for effective implementation of the curriculum. Both theories are applied in child-centered classrooms or programs where children are active and initiate learning activities, and teachers provide a rich social environment and support social interactions. Piaget and Vygotsky's theories form the basis for curriculum design, principles, and practices in early childhood programs. The constructivist approach involves active roles children play in learning (Gordon & Browne, 2017). The constructivist approach is based on Piaget's theory of cognitive development and Vygotsky's sociocultural theory.

Piaget and Vygotsky's theories of cognitive development informed the research questions. I used both theories to explore perspectives of early childhood educators regarding the challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum and support they need for executing the curriculum effectively. As a result, I gained an understanding of what early childhood educators perceive to be challenges in implementing the HighScope curriculum and the support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively.

Piaget (1926) said young children need direct experiences to develop cognitively. Vygotsky (1986) said social interaction is critical during the learning process. Play is critical in the development of language and literacy and in terms of understanding how children approach learning (Gordon & Browne, 2017). Vygotsky and Piaget's theories related to cognitive development were the basis for understanding data collected during interviews with early childhood educators. The theories served as conceptual lenses for this basic qualitative study in terms of both collection and analysis of data gathered from interviews. Thematic coding was used while reading transcripts from interviews. Chapter 2 includes a more thorough explanation of the conceptual framework.

#### Nature of the Study

In this study, I used a basic qualitative approach to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in implementing the HighScope curriculum and the support they need for executing the curriculum effectively. A basic qualitative design is appropriate for this study because it allowed me to explore the different perspectives of educators and analyze data. Twelve preschool teachers, including three preschool teachers from each of the four different preschools, two different educational districts, and two early childhood education officers participated in the study,which was a total of 14 participants. Individual semi-structured interviews were conducted with preschool teachers and two early childhood education officers.

Qualitative research involves experiences, behaviors, and social contexts without statistical or numerical procedures (Babbie, 2017; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). This research design is preferred since it creates opportunities for understanding phenomena from participants' point of view. This is critical for my study as I seek to understand the ways teachers see, view, and approach challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and the support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively. As part of this qualitative research, semi-structured interviews were used which involved

focused and conversational approaches and open-ended questions. The aim of this study was to gather rich and detailed information via participants' independent thoughts. Using semi-structured interviews was an opportunity to focus on issues that are important as they relate to the purpose of my study.

A quantitative approach involves close-ended questions as well as tests and surveys resulting in yes or no responses, along with numerical data and statistics (Krueger & Casey, 2015). Semi-structured interview sessions were conducted with participants for a total of 45 to 60 minutes. Interviews took place via Zoom and Skype from a location of participants' choosing due to COVID-19. I conducted my part of the interview from my home office to ensure privacy and confidentiality of participants. Semi-structured interview sessions began with collecting basic demographic information, open-ended questions, and clarification of responses. Open-ended questions allowed me to find out participants' perspectives about challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and the support they need to implement the curriculum effectively.

#### Definitions

The following educational terms were used throughout this study. These terms are important for the reader to understand this study.

*Active learning*: The involvement of students in activities in a learning environment where they are provided with opportunities to construct knowledge and take control of their own learning process (Krahenbuhl, 2016). *Child-initiated activity:* Theseare self-chosen activities by children which provide the opportunity for them to display autonomy and control their own learning (Robson, 2016).

*Constructivist approach*: The approach that learners actively construct knowledge based on prior experiences and teachers guide and facilitate the process (Isik, 2018).

*Curriculum Implementation:* Curriculum implementation involves ways teachers deliver instruction and assess students by using specified resources. This can include suggestions for instruction, scripts, lesson plans, and assessment tools relate to objectives (Nevenglosky et al, 2019)

*Early Childhood Education (ECE)*: Early childhood education refers to the programs for young children aged 3to 6. The aim of these programs is to prepare children for primary education (Li & Chen, 2017).

*ECE officer*: The Ministry of Education has assigned officers to provide support for teachers from preschool to grade three (3-8years). The officer is responsible for monitoring and supporting teaching and learning at the early childhood level in each educational district (Miller et al., 2020).

*HighScope curriculum*: The HighScope curriculum emphasizes a hands-on childcentered approach that involves a daily routine where children get the opportunity to plan, engage in small and large group instructions, and play indoors and outdoors. Adultchild interaction is a key component of the program, and teachers play an important role in providing learning experiences and supporting development in all domains (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020). *Teacher-directed activity*: This is an activity that is determined by the adult that involves a specific task that the child had to complete individually or with help from the adult (Robson, 2016).

#### Assumptions

Assumptions are attributes of a research study that are not regulated by the researcher but are supposed to be true to make the data process valid (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). My study was based on three assumptions. First, I assumed that all early childhood educators provided honest responses based on their experiences implementing the HighScope curriculum. This is important so that accurate data were provided regarding challenges in implementing the HighScope curriculum and support for executing the curriculum effectively. Second, I assumed that semi-structured interviews would lead to accurate information which would help to answer the research questions and achieve the purpose of this study. Third, I assumed that my present position in the field of early childhood education did not negatively impact the study. I did not directly work or interact with any of the participants in a supervisory role. I assisted in facilitating professional development sessions with teachers once per year. These assumptions were necessary so that participants do not feel coerced to either participate in the study or answer questions. All participants were encouraged to answer each open-ended question candidly during interviews.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

Early childhood educators are trained in implementing the HighScope curriculum at the preschool level (Charles & Williams, 2018). This curriculum is designed to

promote active learning (Gulcicek et al., 2019). In this study, I explored perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in implementing the HighScope curriculum and support they need for executing the curriculum effectively in Grenada. It is important to understand early childhood educators' perspectives regarding the curriculum implementation as they play a significant role in this process and can provide additional information regarding what must be done to enable teachers to successfully implement the HighScope curriculum.

Participants in this study were 12 preschool teachers, including three preschool teachers from each of four different preschools, two schools from two different educational districts in Grenada, and two early childhood education officers who served 3 to 5-year-old children at the preschool level. There was a total of 14 female participants. All educators were employed in public preschools where the HighScope curriculum was implemented. Presently, the HighScope curriculum is not implemented in private schools as it is not mandatory; therefore, private school teachers were excluded. In all included schools, teachers received training regarding implementation of the HighScope curriculum, and early childhood education officers provided support to preschool teachers implementing the curriculum.

The study was further delimited in terms of participants and geographical location related to educational districts. Early childhood education officers and preschool teachers came from two educational districts, as these were districts with early childhood education officers since officers in other districts were retired and not replaced; however, teachers at my district were excluded as participants. As a result, the study was narrowed to other school districts.

Transferability is possible with other preschool settings that provide a childcentered curriculum that includes opportunities for play and interactions in learning centers. It is important to note that findings can inform other settings about challenges in implementing the HighScope curriculum and the support they need for executing the curriculum effectively. Participants were from two school districts. Results from my study may be transferable to schools in other districts in Grenada that have similar settings or use the HighScope curriculum.

#### Limitations

Limitations for the study involved sample size and methodology. The small sample size of 12 early childhood educators and two early childhood education officers is a limitation. The views of the small sample size may not reflect all preschool teachers and education officers who are trained to implement the HighScope curriculum. This study was also limited in terms of methodological weaknesses of the qualitative approach used. The use of the qualitative approach for this study can lead to researcher bias. Transferability was addressed by ensuring that rich, thick descriptions of the setting and findings were provided in the study to help reduce biases.

Limitations were addressed by explaining biases so readers could understand how I may have come to specific interpretations in terms of the data. I have strong feelings about what should happen at the preschool level in terms of the implementation of the HighScope curriculum to reflect high-quality early childhood education. I minimized biases by keeping a reflective research journal, and I followed ethical guidelines from the Belmont Report (1974) for data collection and analysis. First, I showed all participants a copy of draft findings and engaged in member-checking in order to reduce biases duringthe data analysis process. Then, I had an expert reviewer to examine my findings to help minimize any biases that may have happened during the data analysis process.

#### Significance

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum the support they need in order to implement the curriculum effectively. High quality early childhood programs require a developmentally appropriate curriculum that provides young children with the opportunity to develop in all areas (Lipsey et al., 2018). The HighScope curriculum is used in many early childhood programs such as Head Start in the U.S., which enrolled 848,000 3 to 5-year-olds between 2016 and 2017 (Child Trends, 2019). It is also used in Grenada, where this research took place. Teachers face many challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and may need additional support executing the curriculum effectively. The results of this study will be used to fill a gap in practice and provide insights regarding challenges teachers face implementing the HighScope curriculum. Understanding challenges teachers face and support needed for effective implementation of the HighScope curriculum can lead to finding ways to effectively implement the curriculum. This can impact the future of young children and bring about positive social change both for students and educators.

The findings of this study can contribute to the field of ECE. Based on findings, administrators could use information to determine if professional development and curriculum support that is currently being provided to enable teachers to effectively implement theHighScope curriculum is making a positive impact on teaching and learning. This can lead to modifications in professional development and decisions about curriculum implementation . Results can impact young children, thus bringing about positive social change both for students and educators.

#### Summary

Preschool teachers play a significant role in early childhood curriculum implementation (Ntumi, 2018). However, in the process of curriculum implementation, teachers face many challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum and may need additional support implementing the curriculum effectively. As a result, this can negatively impact learning outcomes for students (Ntumi, 2018; Taylor et al., 2016). The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and support they need for executing the curriculum effectively.

Data were collected via semi-structured interviews of preschool teachers and ECE officers. The results of this study can be applicable to other public-based preschools that are implementing the HighScope curriculum or other play-based curriculum that includes child-initiated and teacher-directed activities. Chapter 2 includes an overview and review of literature related to the study. Vygotsky and Piaget's theories of cognitive

development are discussed in further detail, and recent research related to the research topic is presented.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in implementing the HighScope curriculum and support they need for executing the curriculum effectively. The problem is that many teachers face challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum and may need additional support implementing the curriculum effectively. In this chapter, a review of literature regarding early childhood curriculum implementation is presented. The chapter begins with the search strategy I used to find research on my topic.

The HighScope curriculum provides experiences for young children through the process of active participatory learning. However, as the curriculum is implemented, many teachers face challenges and may need support to effectively implement the curriculum. Muller et al. (2018) recommended further research regarding the struggles and successes involved with implementing child-centered practices that can determine challenges are faced by educators and if suggestions provided for success can be beneficial. Research studies are discussed in Chapter 2 along with the conceptual frameworks which are Piaget and Vygotsky's theories of cognitive development. The chapter ends with a synthesis of research that supports the need for this study.

#### **Literature Search Strategy**

I conducted an extensive review of literature on early childhood curriculum implementation. In the process of investigating research related to this study, I used several search engines. Walden's University Library yielded information from: EBSCOHost, Education Research Complete, SAGEJournals, ProQuest, Taylor Francis, Education Source, and ERIC. I focused on articles that were peer-reviewed and published between 2017 and 2021. Key words were: *early childhood education curriculum, early childhood program, curriculum implementation, constructivist approach, child-initiated, challenges in implementing curriculum,* and *HighScope Curriculum.* I also searched the Organization of Eastern Caribbean States website, which assisted in gathering statistics and information related to Grenada. I also searched the HighScope Educational Research Foundation website for additional statistics and research regarding this curriculum.

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual frameworks for this study were Vygotsky and Piaget's theories relating to cognitive development as the basis for curriculum design, principles, and practices. These theories involve how an individual perceives, thinks, understands, and learns. Vygotsky and Piaget's theories involve a social constructivist approach to learning. Researchers have used these theories as a foundation for research related to early childhood education, early childhood curriculum models, literacy and language development, play, and child-centered classrooms. This study explored perspectives of early childhood educators regarding challenges involved with implementing the HighScope curriculum and the support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively.

#### Vygotsky's Sociocultural Theory

Vygotsky's cultural theory involves principles and practices that are the core of the HighScope curriculum. According to Terrell and Watson (2018), the social environment plays an important role in facilitating children's development and learning. Vygotsky's sociocultural theory of development is useful in terms of describing children's mental, language, and social development which is supported and enhanced by social interactions (Veraksa et al., 2016). Curriculum experiences must involve children gaining different concepts, ideas, attitudes, and facts based on direct influences of the social environment. Learning emerges as a natural result of effective interaction and social communication with the environment (Omaga &Alieto, 2019). Adults and teachers focus on being models for children as they speak, answer questions, and provide assistance. Vygotsky's sociocultural theory involves the zone of proximal development (ZPD), scaffolding, and the importance of play in the learning process. This theory helped in terms of understanding adult interactions that area is a key component of the HighScope curriculum.

#### Zone of Proximal Development (ZPD)

One of the key concepts of Vygotsky's theories is the ZPD. I used this concept as a lens to view the curriculum structure that shows young children need to be supported as they learn and the need for developmentally appropriate experiences. Learning occurs in a social context, and as children interact with a more knowledge able partner, their cognitive competencies are enhanced with support provided (Omaga &Alieto, 2019). The ZPD represents the range of learning that a child is capable of with the help from a more competent adult or peer partner (Morrison, 2015; Putman, 2017). Based on the child's ZPD, there are tasks the child cannot complete even if help is provided by an adult or peer, tasks the child can accomplish with help and then there are tasks the child is able to accomplish without support (Terrell & Watson, 2018; Vygotsky, 1978). The ZPD is an environment in which children can learn new behaviors and skills with support from others (Shabani, 2016). Everyday experiences play an important role in children's development (Omaga &Alieto, 2019). Teachers must create the ZPD by setting up learning environments where children can learn new skills and behaviors as they interact with others (Veraksa et al., 2016). Through everyday experiences or interactions, adults can provide meaningful guidance and support to children as they develop cognitive, social, physical, and emotional skills.

#### Scaffolding

Scaffolding is another key concept associated with Vygotsky's sociocultural theory . Scaffolding instruction within young children's ZPD is important as they learn and develop new skills (Terrell & Watson, 2018). Scaffolding is the gradual process of providing various types of support and guidance in the ZPD. Scaffolding allows children to complete challenging tasks that they could not complete independently by providing necessary assistance (Veraksa et al., 2016; Vygotsky, 1986). When children are learning a new task, they need competent partners to scaffold by providing support through conversations, examples, and encouragement to reinforce their efforts (Newman, 2018; Shabani, 2016). As a result, scaffolding builds on children's strengths in terms of what they achieve as their cognitive competencies are enhanced and they become independent learners (Pyle et al., 2018). As children master skills, less assistance is needed from adults; the scaffold is gradually reduced or removed (Omaga &Alieto, 2019). The child gets to the level where the task can be completed independently. Educators should

implement the curriculum with competent adults whocan help children by providing necessary support.

#### Importance of Play in the Learning Process

Play is valued as important for learning and development in young children (Bautista et al., 2019). Vygotsky (1978) said complex activities of children are created from social and cultural contexts. Play is viewed as a significant source of development for young children and a tool for learning (Ahmad et al., 2016; Prioletta & Poliszczuk, 2018; Sawyer, 2017). The social interactions that occur through play are critical for children's development and affect mental processes during preschool (Cakiroglu, 2018; Given et al., 2016). Vygotsky believed social interaction and collaboration with others can transform children's thinking, thus promoting and enhancing their cognitive development (Edwards & Bird, 2017). Teachers have a significant role in helping students access the world, and the quality of interactions determines students' achievement. Children learn through social interactions, so experiences play a significant role in children's development (Pyle et al., 2018; Vygotsky, 1966). The sociocultural theory plays an important role in supporting the development of early learning skills in children through observations (Given et al., 2016). The sociocultural theory is highlighted as this research focuses on the implementation of the HighScope curriculum where play and interactions are critical to development.

#### **Piaget's Theory of Cognitive Development**

Both Vygotsky and Piaget's theories have influenced early childhood education . Piaget's theory of cognitive development involves children's different views of the world. As children interact with people and objects in their environment, changes occur in terms of their conceptions of the world (Pyle et al., 2018). Piaget (1926) said knowledge and skills are built via a continuous process that involves modifying understanding that children bring to every situation. Piaget (1926) said the opportunity to be physically and mentally involved in learning is important for cognitive development during the early years. Children acquire new information as a result of interactions with the environment (Baroody & Diamond, 2016). As a result, children have an active role in gaining knowledge about the world. The quality of the environment and nature of experiences play significant roles in cognitive development. The learning environment must be well organized and opportunity for play is part of activities provided. Play and development, active learning, and stages of development are central tenets of Piaget's theory. Piaget's theory provides a conceptual structure and view of young children linked to the curriculum model used in this study. The HighScope curriculum promotes the child as an active learner who interacts with people and materials in learning environments. Teacher-child interactions are critical to support children as they understand the world (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020).

#### **Piaget's Stages of Cognitive Development**

Piaget (1977) said cognitive development occurs in four stages. The stages are marked by specific accomplishment in terms of thinking and problem solving. The first stage is the sensorimotor stage which occurs from development from birth until about 2 years (Hanfstingi et al., 2019). The sensorimotor stage involves children's first actions based on simple reflexes via senses and motor skills to solve problems that are related to objects and people (Cakiroglu, 2018). The second stage is the preoperational stage, which lasts from 2 to 7. At this stage, children begin to use language for thinking and communicating with others (Bormanaki&Khoshhal, 2017; Piaget, 1973). Children's thinking at this stage depends highly on what they see and perceive concretely. The third stage is the concrete operational stage from 7 to about 11 years (Hanfstingl et al., 2019). At this stage, children develop communication skills as they master conversation tasks and use logic to solve problems (Piaget, 1973; Sharkins et al., 2017). These logical thinking skills that are developed lead to an understanding of classification patterns. However, children are not yet able to separate these skills from concrete situations. The fourth stage is the formal operational stage, which begins at about 11 years old; children now have methods of deductive logic or ways of thinking as they can apply logical principles to abstract situations (Ahmad et al., 2016; Piaget, 1973; Sharkins et al., 2017).

#### **Play and Development**

Piaget (1973) said children have an active role in gaining knowledge and understanding about the world. Knowledge and understanding are constructed through physical and mental activity (Kaur, 2017; Snow et al., 2018). Building knowledge and skills involves a continuous process of constructing and what children bring to learning situations (Bodrova& Leong, 2015; Cakiroglu, 2018). Piaget (1973) said children are active constructors of knowledge and understanding through assimilation and accommodation. Assimilation and accommodation are adaptation processes that enable children to make changes in their mental models to adapt (Hanfstingl et al., 2019; Piaget, 1973). Assimilation involves processing information that fits to a schema, and accommodation involves adapting current levels of thinking or schema to take new information into account (Bormanaki&Khoshhal, 2017).

As children play, they assimilate new ideas and take in sensory information through their interactions with people and objects and incorporate this into their existing knowledge of people and objects (Piaget, 1962; Sharkins et al., 2017; Theodotou, 2019). In situations where new information does not fit into existing schema, children experience disequilibrium (Bormanaki &Khoshhal, 2017). However, through assimilation and accommodation of new information, children can develop a balance between existing and new schemas, which is equilibrium (Hanfstingl et al., 2019). As a result, children try to master new ideas by adjusting their current idea to the new idea (Bormanaki & Khoshhal, 2017; Piaget, 1926). This allows children to learn something new and achieve new levels of understanding, which is a state of equilibrium (Hanfstingl et al., 2019; Kaur, 2017). As learning is an active process, the HighScope classroom includes interactions and activity areas that cater to children's developmental needs .

A basic qualitative research approach was used for this study because it allowed me to explore challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and support needed and interpret it based on preschool teachers' and early childhood education officers' perspectives. Vygotsky and Piaget's theories served as guides for this study. These theories helped me design research questions. Vygotsky's sociocultural theory helped in terms of understanding social interactions which support cognitive development. Piaget's theory of cognitive development involved active participation for cognitive development. In considering Vygotsky and Piaget's theories, I explored challenges teachers face in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and the support they may need. As data were collected and analyzed, theories of cognitive development were considered.

#### Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variable

In the following sections, I reviewed literature related to preschool teachers' perspectives of early childhood educators challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum and support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively. After I reviewed literature, I recognized many common themes across different research studies. The themes were curriculum reform, early childhood curriculum implementation, HighScope curriculum, challenges implementing curriculum, constructivist approach, and support needed for curriculum implementation. These themes were identified as current research on challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum and support needed. I will now discuss the highlighted themes in detail.

#### **ECE Curriculum**

Early childhood education is a dynamic field and over the years there has been emphasis on early care and development focusing on access and quality (Haslip & Gullo, 2018). Early childhood curriculum involves many elements such as views of children as learners, appropriate practices, expected teaching subject matter, and socio-cultural values to be promoted (McKenney & Bradley, 2016; Wood & Hedges, 2016). Factors such as a well-defined curriculum and successful curriculum implementation are critical for quality experiences for young children that can result in positive impact on development (Duncan et al., 2015). An early childhood curriculum is an important component of any early childhood programme and its use is mandated in many countries (Logan et al., 2015; Zhu, 2015). The main focus of early childhood curriculum is to address all the developmental domain of children (Dilek, 2016). Many early childhood curricula continue to emerge around the world (Haslip &Gullo, 2018; Gulcicek et al., 2019). However, it was noted that many of these curricula are grounded in mainstream curricula models such as HighScope, Montessori, Bank Street, Reggio Emilia, and Waldorf (Gulcicek et al., 2019; Khomais&Gahwaji, 2019). These mainstream curricula are reflected in different early childhood curricula based on different aspects or characteristics. According to Gulcicek et al. (2019), countries are inspired by these mainstream curriculum models that highlighted child-centered approach, taking into consideration differences children may have and developmental characteristics of children (Ekici, 2015). Rajab and Wright (2018) noted that Self-learning Curriculum for Kindergarten is based on the HighScope curriculum model. Gulcicek et al. (2019) conducted a study to examine which mainstream curriculum models are included in Turkish Early Childhood Curriculum. Gulcicek et al. (2019) found that most areas of the curriculum such as objective or characteristics reflected traces of mainstream models. As components of these curricula are used, the positive impact is realized. The Reggio Emilia approach helps children develop positive relationship with each other and as a result they develop good communication and play skills (Hong et al., 2017). As it relates to Waldrof curriculum, children's artistic, creative thinking and drawing skills are enhanced (Park, 2018).

Early childhood education curricula are generally based on learning and developmental theories (Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019; Rajab & Wright, 2018; Tuncer, 2015). Khomais and Gahwaji (2019) conducted research that focused on theories and principles of three models of early childhood curricula which included HighScope. Researchers found that curricula foundation was in the same theories that form the basis of early childhood education. The theories were Piaget's cognitive learning theory that emphasizes development of logical thinking when children are provided with experiences and rich stimulating environment. The socio-cultural theory by Vygotsky also formed the basis. This theory focused on the need for social interaction in the learning process (Gulcicek et al., 2019; Khomais&Gahwaji, 2019; Wood & Hedges, 2016). The environment was identified as key to the child's learning and development and this was grounded in environmental theories of learning. John Dewey's theory involves interacting in a rich environment with peers and adult as important for learning (Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019). However, there are other theories that are adopted in these curricula. These include brain development, environmental and theories based on a local context (Gulcicek et al., 2019; Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019).

Early childhood education curricula is grounded on principles that guide decision teachers make and pedagogical practices (Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019; Mligo, 2016; Taylor et al., 2016). According to Khomais & Gahwaji(2019), early childhood curriculum emphasizes culturally and developmentally appropriate practices that involves learning through exploration, imagination and play. The best models of early childhood curricula stress learning involving direct experiences, problem solving, and knowledge construction during social interaction. This involves child-centeredness and play-based learning (Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019; Mligo, 2016). The role of the teacher in terms of relation to the child is a fundamental element (Biesta et al., 2015; Mligo, 2016). The interaction between teachers and the child has a significant role to play in enhancing the teaching and learning process. It is critical for effective curriculum implementation (Gulcicek et al., 2019). Teachers are recognized as change agent in the process. According to Kim et al. (2019), early childhood educators are responsible for curriculum implementation by delivering curriculum goals and standards to children. The learning environment plays a significant role in early childhood education (Nyland & Ng, 2016; Yang & Li, 2019). A rich environment has to be created with stimulating experiences, exploration and sensory learning that are supported by competent adult or peer (Taylor et al., 2016; Yang & Li, 2019). However, Gulcicek et al. (2019) noted that the organization of learning environment and materials can be different based on the curriculum. In Montessori learning environment, practical and sensory areas are created to support learning while the HighScope places emphasis on home-like items in the centers. The principle of family and community involvement is also a critical component of the learning environment as children do not only learn in a classroom setting (Gulcicek et al., 2019; Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019).

### **Curriculum Reform or Change**

Curriculum reform or change is a complex process that can be challenging for educators (Chimbi & Jita, 2019; Gleeson et al., 2020; Nyland & Ng, 2016; Petrova & Zapotocna, 2018; Zindi, 2018). Curriculum reform in early childhood has focused on wide spread modern educational principles on teaching practices, child development and student learning (Baron et al., 2016). The reform is done to create early childhood curriculum models to meet needs of the unique social and cultural condition in different countries (Li & Chen, 2017). Change can be both rewarding and positive which depends on individual teacher's attitude and approaches in terms of implementation of the curriculum (MacDonald et al., 2016).

Policymakers tend to forward curriculum reform and change without putting appropriate structures in place to ensure implementers or teachers are component enough to implement changes at the classroom level (Ganon-Shilon & Schechter, 2017; Nevenglosky et al., 2019; Soysal & Radmard, 2017). Ganon-Shilon and Schechter (2017) indicated that countries tend to move quickly into curriculum reform without providing the necessary support to help teachers implement the changes. Also, a top-down administrative approach was used without consultation with teachers. Teachers were not prepared for change and they were required to prepare for implementation (Li & Chen, 2017; Gleeson et al., 2020). In many cases, the lack of knowledge resulted in no buy-in for the new curriculum (Chimbi & Jita, 2019). Although teachers may be resistant to curriculum change as it relates to implementation (Prendergast & Treacy, 2017), this is sometimes seen as dislike for the curriculum. Chimbi and Jita (2019) conducted a study on how teachers interpret the new curriculum and how their understanding influenced implementation of new reform. Researchers found that curriculum reform was done without adequate preparation of teachers to perform their roles. The lack of knowledge on the change process made teachers appear to be resistant but it was just lack of knowledge on the reform process (Chimbi&Jita, 2019).

According to Chen (2017), teacher education is critical in the reform process as teachers are directly responsible for implementation of the curriculum. It was noted that teachers need sufficient time to understand the change process (Clasquin-Johnson, 2016; Wang & Lam, 2017). Professional learning is critical to motivate and empower teachers as they implement curriculum change (Govender, 2018; Taylor et al., 2016). There is a need for extensive training implementing curriculum reform. Clasquin-Johnson (2016) reported on a study conducted to investigate how professional development, physical resources and instructional support influenced teachers' responses to curriculum change. The results indicated that the professional development programme was not appropriate to adequately meet the needs of specific groups of teachers. Govender (2018) found that teachers were not satisfied with the amount and quality of training received. As it relates to instructional support, support from heads of department and coach was limited. However, collegial support was evident even if it was slow and gradual (Clasquin-Johnson, 2016).

## **Constructivist Approach**

The constructivist learning theory is one of the developments that had gained traction in educational circles (Miller-First & Ballard, 2017). It is classified as best practices in terms of explaining how people come to gain knowledge (Krahenbuhl, 2016). Most early childhood programs implement curricula that are grounded in constructivism. This approach to cognitive development emphasizes that children construct knowledge through interaction with adults, peers, and materials (Muller et al., 2018; Pardjono, 2016). The constructivist ideas and practices forward how knowledge is produced highlighting the child as active in constructing knowledge (Muller et al., 2018; Pyle & Danniels, 2017; Shah, 2019). The constructivist approach to teaching and learning has its origin from the work of cognitive psychologists such as Dewey, Vygotsky, and Piaget (Muller, 2018; Shah, 2019). Learners are not blank slates but bring their background knowledge and other cultural factors to the learning situation. Constructivists believe that learners construct their own knowledge through experiences with adults, peers and the environment (Shah, 2019). The focus is on the learner in that the teacher supports the learner to ensure it is not just channeled form teacher to student (Tan, 2017). According to Tiilikainen et al. (2019), the classroom is a place where teachers support students during the learning process.

The value of constructivist learning theory cannot be understated as it is important especially for educational practices (Booyse & Chetty, 2016). Researchers indicated that learners benefit from such approach as it results in significant success in enhancing student learning (Krahenbuhl, 2016; Shah, 2019). Learners become self-motivated, leading to effective learners that take responsibility for their own learning (Booyse & Chetty, 2016). According to Shah (2019), the move from traditional method to a more constructivist approach has led to educators challenging students to construct their knowledge and as a result, the needs of many more students are met. Based on research conducted by Dev (2016), constructivist methods positively impact academic performance and problem solving ability of primary school students in the area of learning language. The researcher found that the constructivist teaching approach provided opportunity for students to be engaged or active in the process which enhanced achievements in English. The class was able to minimize their difficulty in different concepts associated with English Language (Dev, 2016). Constructivist practices in the classroom show great success in promoting student learning (McNally & Slutsky, 2016; Shah, 2019). As when children are engaged, they gain deeper knowledge of concepts.

Although there are advantages to using constructivist approach in the classroom, there are challenges in using the constructivist pedagogy (Shah, 2019). Teachers noted that materials provided during implementation did not meet the goals of constructivist approach (Muller et al., 2018). Constructivist approach has been misinterpreted and misused which resulted in practices that are not effective in addressing needs of students (Muller et al., 2018; Shah, 2019). Constructivist approach focuses on a balance with teacher- and student-directed learning where the teacher has a significant role in the learning process (Shah, 2019). Shah (2019) found that teachers had the idea that they do not need to be expert in the content they will be delivering since children construct knowledge on their own. Teachers expected children to teach themselves. Teachers had challenges in following the constructivist approach in terms of their roles as teachers and difficulty implementing constructivist practices (Krahenbuhl, 2016). Teachers had selfdoubt and not recognizing that getting an understanding of constructivism was a process that takes time (Muller et al., 2018). It was a challenge understanding constructivism or the constructivist theory and having to move beyond the traditional way of assessing that included memorization of information. The assessment practices were not aligned with

the pedagogical principles of the constructivist approach (Muller et al., 2018). It must be noted that Shah (2019) recommends when using constructivist pedagogical practices, teachers should be mindful not to present learning as entertainment or expect children to teach themselves. This can lead to poor results and ineffective learning (Shah, 2019).

# **HighScope Curriculum**

The HighScope curriculum is a mainstream curriculum that is widely used in many countries and it has inspired development of other early childhood curriculum used in other countries (Gulcicek et al., 2019; Jenkins & Duncan, 2017; Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019; Qamar et al., 2012). The curriculum is play-based, child-centered, and emphasizes active learning. It is designed to promote high-quality early childhood education for young children (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020; Epstein, 1993; Qamaret al., 2012). The aim is to support the child in development of important skills while considering the child's interest and providing opportunities for choice (Rajab & Wright, 2018; Schweinhart & Weikart, 1997). Teachers support learning by creating a stimulating environment that allows children to interact with an adult or their peers (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020; Qamar et al., 2012).

Child development theories are clearly embedded in the HighScope curriculum (Rajab & Wright, 2018). The curriculum is extensively based on Piaget's cognitive theory and the role it plays in construction of knowledge through experiences and supportive environment (Hohmann & Weikart, 1995; Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019; Rajab & Wright, 2018). The social-cultural theory of Vygotsky clearly embedded in HighScope, which involves social interaction in learning. The learner has to be actively

involved in learning process in terms of seeking and constructing meaning. There has to be social interaction and collaboration in the teaching and learning process. According to Rajab and Wright (2018), the curriculum is aligned with the constructivist approach that focuses on adults providing support for children as they interact with materials and others. Piaget's theory is the basis for the constructivist approach to learning, teaching methods and education reform (Du Plessis, 2020). John Dewey's philosophy of progressive education has also influenced the HighScope curriculum (Hohmann & Weikart 1995). This is reflected in the curriculum through opportunities to be engaged in real life experiences in a playful way (Qamar et al., 2012).

## HighScope Principles

The curriculum is based on five key principles: active learning, adult-child interaction, learning environment, daily routine and assessment (Gulcicek et al., 2019; HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020; Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019); Rajab & Wright, 2018). These principles form the basis for decision making and guidance in terms of the practices used (Gulcicek et al., 2019). Teachers can use these principles to decide on choices and decisions as it relates to the learner, content, teaching methods, strategies, learning environment, and relationship with other adults including family members (Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019; Rajab & Wright, 2018).

### Active Learning

The HighScope curriculum involves active participatory learning, and it is the cornerstone of the curriculum (Morrison, 2015; Qamar et al., 2012; Rajab & Wright,

2018). Active learning involves learning by doing. Children are given opportunities to be involved and engaged (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020; Lerkkanen et al., 2016). It is believed that active participatory learning through play is critical for a child's development. According to Mikser et al. (2016), the concept of the HighScope active learning is that of active participation of the learner in the learning process through interaction with peers, adults and environment to meet learning outcomes. Children select materials based on their interest and they can explore and manipulate materials as they learn (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020). In this process, the learner is able to solve problems, express self, think critically and transfer their learning into different situations or take control of their own learning (Mikser et al., 2016). As a result, the learner has to be supported based on developmental level and needs (Mikseret al., 2016). Samuelsson et al. (2006) noted that as children are engaged, the role of the teacher is to support the children during learning. This involves adult scaffolding of thelearner; the role of teachers is that of facilitator. The learner and teacher are involved in construction of knowledge (Rajab & Wright, 2018).

Key development indicators (KDIs) are the building block of the HighScope curriculum. There are a total of 58 key developmental indicators that highlight the objectives of the curriculum (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020). These indicators are the behaviors that are expected for the children as they interact in the learning areas (Gulcicek et al., 2019). The KDI's are approaches to learning, language literacy and communication, social and emotional development, physical development, Mathematic, Social Studies, Science and Technology and Creative Arts (Gulcicek et al., 2019). In planning activities, the different categories are used with materials and active participation.

## Learning Environment

The curriculum places great emphasis on the learning environment and its role in the learning process. These include both indoor and outdoor learning spaces and they are organized in specific areas of interest for children which provide opportunities for children to make choices, decisions and solve problems (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020; Gulcicek et al., 2019; Qamar et al., 2012). The teacher's roles includes planning activities for students based on needs and interest, assessment, designing the learning environment and providing behavior guidance (Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019). The interaction between the child and the learning environment is critical to development (Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019). The learning environment must be rich with stimulating experiences, exploration, sensory learning and interaction (Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019). The interest areas are organized with different materials that children can easily access, that are open-ended, real-life, and labeled so they can be returned after use. According to Daly and Beloglovsky (2015), open-ended materials allow children to build on their understanding of concepts and enhance their cognitive abilities. The interaction between children and the adult is of great significance but the physical space is also important (Schaefer, 2016). Schaefer (2016) conducted a research on ways classroom materials influence learning. Results showed that based on teachers questioning, this can influence how children use materials during play. Another aspect is the relationship with family and community which is a significant component. The

experiences must not just be limited to the experiences in the early childhood classroom. The curriculum emphasizes rich and stimulating environments (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020). The physical environment is very important. The arrangement of the environment is critical to support learning and many of the activities are done individually and in small groups (Rajab & Wright, 2018). The teacher provides support in the process.

The learning environment is carefully arranged to ensure active learning and development of problem-solving skills (Yang & Li, 2019). In the classroom, there are learning centers or interest areas such as block area, book area, sand and water that help to support active learning. A comfortable space is created to encourage children to play freely as they select the areas, they plan to play in. Outside play is forwarded and school must have an outside area for play with equipment such as swings and slides (Gulcicek et al., 2019).

#### Adult-ChildInteraction

Adult-child interaction is a significant principle of the curriculum relating to interaction in the child's learning and socio-cultural context (Boeckmann & Nichols, 2015; Gulcicek et al., 2019. The child is viewed as having different needs and are able to complete certain task at different age. Through interaction with materials, peers, and adults, the child develops competences (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020; Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019). Adults are viewed as facilitator in the teaching learning process (Rajab & Wright, 2018). According to Gulcicek et al. (2019), teachers have a great role to play in setting up the environment for learning and ensuring there is connection with the teacher and child's family. There are many adult-child interaction strategies such as adult participating in play and talking with children as they play (Gleeson et al., 2020). This supportencourages children to solve problems and the teacher gets to extend on children's learning in the process (Khomais & Gahwaji, 2019; Morrison, 2015).

### Assessment

Assessment is an important aspect of the curriculum and there is an effective evaluation system that focuses on the quality of the curriculum (Boeckmann & Nichols, 2015; Gulcicek et al., 2019; HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020). The HighScope curriculum involves the daily observation of children's experiences throughout the daily routine (Gulcicek et al., 2019). The KDI's form the basis for the record keeping process during observations. According to Gulcicek et al. (2019), the HighScope curriculum places significant emphasis on assessment. It involves the intentional observation of children in their learning environment and sharing of information with parents to ensure they can continue to support children at home (Gulcicek et al., (2019). The tools that are used for assessment are the Preschool Child Observation Record (COR) that is used to record children progress and the Preschool Quality Assessment (PQA) that can be used to evaluate the quality of the HighScope curriculum (Gulcicek et al., 2019; HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020). The child observation record (COR) is a comprehensive assessment tool that is used for assessment. Anecdotal notes are taken about each child based on the developmental areas and portfolios are kept of students' work. Using the PQA, learning environment, daily

routine, adult-child interaction, curriculum planning and assessment, parents' involvement, and program management are evaluated (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020). These two assessments can provide a good evaluation of the child's progress and the quality of the HighScope curriculum (Gulcicek et al., 2019)

## **Daily Routine**

A key area of the HighScope approach is the daily routine which establishes a common framework for engaging children throughout the day (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020). The daily routine includes set time for various activities for preschoolers such as plan-do-review, small group time, large group time, and outside time. Plan-do-review is a segment of the daily routine where children get time to plan what they will do in the interest areas, share their plans, work on their plan and then report on what was done during work time (Gulcicek et al., 2019). In this segment, children have the opportunity to choose activities they would like to be involved in (Gulcicek et al., 2019; HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020). During small group time, the teacher initiates learning activities for the children based on the learning outcomes, children's interest and what is happening on a local basis. The daily routine also includes greeting time, clean up time; break and transition time (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 2020).

## **Challenges to Effective Curriculum Implementation**

Early childhood educators face many challenges during implementation of a curriculum (Boeckmann & Nichols, 2015; Nevenglosky et al., 2019; Ntumi, 2016; Taylor et al., 2016). In a study conducted by Ntumi (2016), to ascertain challenges preschool

teachers face in the implementation of an early childhood curriculum, found that preschool teachers lacked knowledge about the early childhood curriculum, teaching and learning materials to work with, and there was lack of parental involvement (Mligo, 2016). According to Balogi and Makhubele (2018), lack of funding, materials and training for educators were stumbling blocks to curriculum implementation. It was noted that factors such as teachers, teaching, and learning materials influenced the effective implementation of the curriculum (Clasquin-Johnson, 2016; Taylor et al., 2016). According to Aquino et al. (2017), insufficient instructional materials, inadequate space for large class sizes, lack of parental support, and lack of teacher training were challenges teachers faced implementing the curriculum. Boeckmann and Nichols (2015) in the review of the HighScope curriculum in Grenada, found that learning to share control of conversation with children and participating in children's play were challenging. Teachers noted that this was even more challenging with teacher-child ratio more than 8:1 (Boeckmann & Nichols, 2015).

#### Lack of Knowledge About the Curriculum

Early childhood educators are expected to be knowledgeable and competent in their job (American Institute for Research, 2016; Balogi & Makhubele, 2018). As early childhood educators, teachers are critical in the implementation of a curriculum (Bell, 2015; Lochner et al., 2015). Teachers not having a good grasp of early childhood curriculum can result in problems as it relates to the content of the curriculum (Ntumi, 2016). According to Mligo (2016), implementation of the curriculum was challenging as teachers' lacked knowledge of child-centered pedagogy and curriculum that they were expected to implement. Teachers lacked knowledge in terms of how information has to be presented and ideas to ensure children were making sense of the information (Mligo, 2016). Govender (2018) conducted a research to explore teachers' perspectives on reform as it relates to curriculum implementation. The aims were to gain knowledge on the challenges, support and professional development received to facilitate change. The results showed teachers felt they did not have pedagogical content knowledge to enhance areas of the teaching process in terms of the context of curriculum change they were expected to make (Govender, 2018).

According to Nyland and Ng (2016),lack of clarity with the design of the curriculum and what teachers are expected to do; showed they do not have the same concept of change. This can indeed affect the implementation process. Teachers had difficulty in transferring ideas into practices especially when the principles were different to what they have been using (Henward et al., 2019; Nyland & Ng, 2016; Qamar et al., 2012). Teachers faced challenges planning for play activities as it is less structured and teachers found it quite difficult to implement guided play in the classroom (Pyle et al., 2018). It is important that teachers feel confident in the implementation process to ensure effective implementation (American Institute for Research, 2016).

#### Lack of Teacher Training and Professional Development

Teachers were not provided with adequate support in the form training that can help them better understand early childhood curriculum (Balogi & Makhubele, 2018; Mligo, 2016). The administrators did not provide frequent training that was needed to keep teachers up to date on trends in early childhood curriculum (Ntumi, 2016). Govender (2018) found that the lack in sustainable professional development programmes was a major constraint facing staff members implementing the curriculum. Teachers were dissatisfied with training workshop offered in terms ofquality and quantity (Govender, 2018). Teachers lacked knowledge on the implementation of child-centered curriculum and had limited professional development sessions. This affected implementation of the preschool curriculum that was provided (Mligo, 2016). Inequalities in training and the accessibility to ensure all staff member received the initial training were lacking in the process (Taylor et al., 2016).

The need for ongoing teacher education in terms of how to configure and adapt their strengths and skills while implementing the pedagogical practices were needed (Boeckmann & Nichols, 2015; MacDonald et al., 2016; Nevenglosky et al., 2019; Ntumi, 2016). Teachers are expected to interpret curriculum philosophies and transfer this to practices in the classroom. This result in teachers not using developmentally appropriate methods for teaching preschool children as preschool children were taught as primary school children. The principles of teaching young children were not followed (Mligo, 2016). This was further supported by Boeckmann & Nichols (2015), noting that adultchild interaction which is central to effective implementation of the HighScope curriculum, needed more work to be done in this area. Additional training and practice should be done in areas of sharing control and participating in children's play (Nichols, 2015). Cheung (2017) and Rajab and Wright (2020) highlighted that it was problematic for teachers having to directly implement western creative pedagogy such as the childinitiated approach in Chinese context where there are cultural differences. Tan (2017) noted that it was a challenge for educators as they were of the belief that constructivist approach and the transmission approach were not compatible.

Professional development needed to assist teachers in building content and teaching practices were not ongoing (Govender, 2018). Gokmenoglu and Clark (2015) noted that implementation of the curriculum has failed due to lack of adequate professional development provided by leaders. Leaders tend to assume that once teachers have the expertise in the content area, they can successfully implement the curriculum (Govender, 2018). This may not be the case; therefore, there must be collaboration from different stakeholders (Haslip & Gullo, 2018; Nyland & Ng, 2016). It is important to have programs that prepare teachers for the change process (Haslip & Gullo, 2018; Nores et al., 2018). Balogi and Makhubele, (2018) posited that training should be practical sessions onsite with the opportunities to transfer the theoretical that was provided during training. This must be done to ensure consistent implementation of the curriculum or programme. Taylor et al. (2016) noted that teachers that received in-service training were the ones that more likely implemented the practices forwarded. In order to embrace and implement curriculum, teachers have to be familiar with details of the curriculum to avoid the potential of becoming overwhelmed (MacDonald et al., 2016).

## Insufficient Resources

Inadequate teaching and learning materials was another challenge that teachers faced implementing the early childhood curriculum (Miller-First & Ballard, 2017; Mligo, 2016). The teaching and learning facilities at the learning centers were not adequate to ensure effective implementation of the curriculum (Balogi & Makhubele, 2018). Balogi

44

and Makhubele (2018) noted that the facilities lacked appropriate playground, classrooms and rest areas. Teachers were not supported by administrators in terms of the provision of teaching and learning materials and facilities for implementation of the curriculum (Mligo, 2016). Many centers lack swings, appropriate toilet facilities to accommodate all children and this made it difficult to provide quality services that ensured good quality program at early childhood centers (Balogi & Makhubele, 2018). Sufficient resources are needed to ensure effective teaching and learning. The limited materials affected the teaching and learning process especially where there is overcrowding in the classroom space (Govender, 2018).

## Lack of ParentalInvolvement

The lack of parental involvement in the education of their children can negatively affectimplementation of the curriculum (Aquino et al., 2017). Ntumi (2016) revealed that parents were unconcerned about early childhood education at the preschool level. The parents' perceptions of early childhood education were that of wasting time, not recognizing that it is a serious place for learning. Parents were powerful stakeholders in the process that did not support the agenda as it relates to curriculum reform (Nyland & Ny, 2016). Parents did not have a clear understanding of play in the learning process as they equated play as just having fun. They forwarded that children were sent to school to learn, not just to play (Nyland & Ng, 2016). However, in the study conducted by Mligo (2016), parental involvement was examined. The results showed that during implementation of the new curriculum, parents lacked the awareness about their roles in the process in terms of their collaboration with teachers to enhance students' learning

(Mligo, 2016). This was supported by Aquino et al. (2017) who stated that parents were not cooperating with teachers to support the learning process.

#### **Elements or Circumstances that Influence Curriculum Implementation**

There are many elements or circumstances that influence the quality of the implementation of curricula. Researchers highlighted these factors such as the teacher, students, resources and materials, and support from stakeholders (Balogi & Makhubele, 2018; Ntumi, 2016;). According to Phillips et al. (2017), teacher receptivity and consistency during curriculum implementation especially in lessons delivery were significant predictors of the quality of implementation. It was noted that teacher education was not a key predicator that influenced the quality of implementation (Phillips et al., 2017). Mc Neill et al. (2016) found this to be true as the preparation training session provided for teachers before the implementation process begins is vital. Teachers must fully understand the goals and objectives of the new curriculum. The use of materials is vital in the early learning environment and it plays an important role in implementation of a new curriculum (Ntumi, 2016). Ntumi (2016) and MacDonald et al. (2016) recommended that administrators provide the necessary teaching and learning materials and frequent training to ensure the effective implementation of an early childhood curriculum. Balogi and Makhubele (2018) showed that poor infrastructure, inadequate training of early childhood teachers and poor financial support, monitoring, and evaluation were challenges teachers faced when implementing the early childhood development programmes. MacDonald et al. (2016) found this to be true, that teachers' experiences during preparedness can influence their ability to embrace or resist change. It was noted that teachers that taught for over 10 years had less fear or resistant to curriculum change (MacDonald et al., 2016).

The support from the school administrators is required for success in the curriculum implementation process (Govender, 2018; Kimosop, 2018). Kimosop (2018) noted that head teachers played a key role in the implementation of the curriculum by providing appropriate materials, giving advice on curriculum matters, and encouraging parents to support teachers in the process. However, the support that head teachers needed was not provided by the Ministry of Education official in terms of how to supervise the curriculum. According to Govender (2018), based on policy, educational officials are required to visit schools during the term to monitor and provide guidance to teachers. However, it was noted that objectives were not achieved due to the lack of support as noted in the policy (Govender, 2018).

#### **Support During Curriculum Implementation: Professional Development**

Professional development sessions are critical in providing support for teachers as they implement a new curriculum (Nevenglosky et al., 2019; Smit & du Toit, 2016; Weiland et al., 2018). The lack of training or quality guidance can affect implementation process (Bell, 2015; Weiland et al., 2018). The implementation of a new curriculum requires that teachers are aware of their role in the process. Gray and Ryan (2016) noted that 43% of the early childhood educators lacked knowledge about their role in the curriculum implementation process at the primary school level. This points to the need for training to help teachers understand the curriculum. Professional development is critical in implementation of the curriculum. According to Nevenglosky et al. (2019), there is a need for administrators to provide the necessary professional development sessions for teachers as they implement a new curriculum. Nevenglosky et al. (2019) found that teachers were concerned about lack of information that will allow them to successfully implement the curriculum. Teachers can indeed benefit from professional development as this can enable them to develop a level of comfort and important competences implementing the new curriculum (Cetin et al., 2016; Coldwell, 2017; Lia, 2016). It is important that the relevant sessions are provided (Lia, 2016). As teachers implement a new curriculum, anxiety can be an issue; however, Margolis et al. (2017) and Hall (2015) have noted that quality professional development can help to maintain teacher confidence and reduce anxiety. Administrators must be strategic in the areas for professional development as it must be relevant to the needs of teachers (Baird & Clark, 2018; Bakir et al., 2016; Bautista et al., 2016). MacDonald et al. (2016) found that it is important to provide quality professional learning opportunities to support teachers in their delivery of the curriculum.

#### **Summary and Conclusions**

An extensive literature review was completed related to the challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum, and the support needed for effective implementation at the early childhood level. As I reviewed literature, there were many themes that were common among the various studies that I included in this research study. The studies reviewed on challenges implementing early childhood curriculum, and support needed for effective implementation highlight challenges faced, and the need for greater support during the implementation process. Even though researchers have previously noted the challenges in early childhood curriculum implementation (Baron et al., 2016; Ngwenya, 2020), few researchers have explored the perspectives of early childhood educators about the challenges implementing HighScope curriculum, and support they need implementing the curriculum effectively. This study will fill the gap in practice regarding challenges early childhood teachers face implementing the HighScope curriculum, and the support they need in the process. The information can lead to making recommendations to provide guidelines for implementing the curriculum or a child-centered curriculum to early childhood educators and how the challenges can be addressed with additional support.

In chapter three, an overview of the research design is provided. I present a basis qualitative research study that explored the perspectives of early childhood educators regarding challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum and support they need for executing the curriculum effectively. An in-depth description of the research design is provided. The topics in chapter three include the role of the researcher, participant selection, instrumentation, procedures for recruitment, participation, data analysis plan, trustworthiness, and ethical procedures.

### Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum, which involves balancing child-initiated and teacher teacher-directed activities, as well asthe support they need for executing the curriculum effectively. In Chapter 3, I describe the research method for the study. Chapter 3 includes the research design, its rationale, and the role of the researcher. Details regarding how participants were selected, data collection, and data analysis plan arealso outlined. I discuss trustworthiness issues, highlighting issues of credibility, transferability, dependability, and conformability, along with ethical procedures. The chapter concludes with a summary of key components of research methods.

## **Research Design and Rationale**

To explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum , and the support they need for executing the curriculum effectively, these research questions guided this study:

*RQ1:* What are the perspectives of early childhood educators regarding challenges involved with implementing the HighScope curriculum in Grenada?

*RQ2:* What support do early childhood educators perceive they need to execute the HighScope curriculum effectively in Grenada?

The central concepts of this study include challenges involved with implementation of the HighScope curriculum and support needed for effective implementation. Early childhood curriculum is an important component of early childhood programs (Akinrotimi& Olowe,

2016) and there is a need for effective implementation (Kimosop, (2018). The role of the early childhood educator in implementing the HighScope curriculum is critical (Rajab & Wright, 2018). Understanding the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and the support they may need for effective implementation needs to be explored, since this can lead to finding ways to effectively implement the curriculum.

I used the basic qualitative research design to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators. The qualitative design focuses involves processes to examine a phenomenon using descriptive data from experiences of participants (Creswell, 2013; Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Qualitative research is used to explore a key concept or central phenomenon where data areanalyzed and the researcher identifies themes that emerge (Creswell, 2016). Qualitative research allows the researcher to use subjectivity, while emphasizing data collection and analysis (Silverman, 2016). The quantitative research design was rejected as it was not aligned with the research question. In quantitative research, the focus is on hypothesis testing while qualitative research involves how participants experience the phenomenon in terms of gaining meaning (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). This is aligned with the purpose of the study, which is to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators regarding challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and support they need for executing the curriculum effectively. Exploring teachers' perspectives required a research design that allowed me to gain information regarding specific experiences teachers have in the classroom.

According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), basic qualitative research design involves obtaining a clear picture of the phenomenon through the perspectives of participants involved in the study. The qualitative research design involves an openended approach where participants can construct meaning from their experiences and situations (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017; Schwandt, 2015). I opted for the basic qualitative research design to ensure rich and thick descriptions were collected from early childhood educators via semi-structured interviews. After considering the purpose of the study, the basic qualitative approach enabled me to gain insight regarding challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum. Such information may not be available with a quantitative approach. By using this research design, I was able to answer the research question by providing rich descriptions of how participants interpret their experiences and make sense of what exists in the classroom .

Other research designs were considered before the basic qualitative approach was selected. Grounded theory was considered but rejected. The grounded theory design involves establishing a theory from data (Corbin & Strauss, 2015; Gaudet & Dominique, 2018). The aim of this research was not to build a substantive theory but explore perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and support they need for executing the curriculum effectively.

Another design that was considered was phenomenology. Phenomenology research involves the everyday real-life experiences of participants. It can be used to explain how participants experience a specific phenomenon (Creswell, 2016; Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017). I focused on challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and support needed which involves collection of data at only one point in time instead of over a period of time. The study aim is not to look at how participants experience a specific phenomenon but to focus on their perspectives. The case study approach was also rejected. The case study approach involves a research question or issue as it relates to real life situations with the intention of determining the how and why of the phenomenon (Creswell, 2016; Silverman, 2016). In my study, the focus is not observations of the participants in real life situation. After considering this method, the basic qualitative research is best for the study and helped to explore research questions. This will help readers understand the phenomenon in terms of experiences involved with implementing the curriculum, and support they need to ensure effective implementation.

### **Role of the Researcher**

In qualitative studies, the researcher had an important role to play in terms of quality of the results of the research. As the sole researcher, I was responsible for all areas of the study which includes recruitment of eligible participants, data collection, transcribing, analysis, storing all data, and reporting of results. A key role involves creating interview questions and interviewing participants in a respectful, neutral, and non biased manner (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). My role as the researcher was to record the perspectives of participants while asking open-ended questions and analyze data. In this study, data werecollected via semi-structured interviews.

Over the past 24 years, I have worked in the area of ECE. During this period, I worked as an early grade teacher, ECE officer, and facilitator of professional development sessions. As an ECE officer, I am responsible for supporting early

childhood teachers on a daily basis. On a professional basis, I have facilitated professional development sessions once a year for some of the early childhood teachers involved in the study. However, in my role as an ECE officer, I didnot serve in any supervisory role with participants or provide support on a daily basis. Preschool teachers are not involved in the study in the district that I serve. Although I am an ECE officer, participants were not selected from schools within the educational district where I work. Potential participants are not directly under my supervision as they are not part of the educational district where I work; therefore, I do not have any supervisory connections with any participants. No potential participants were directly supervised by me. As a result, I do not have interactions with them on a daily basis. However, I have a professional relationship with ECE officers, as they are my colleagues. These relationships did not hinder the data collection process in anyway. They provided a list of names and contact information of preschool teachers, but they didnot know final participants' names, as I assigned pseudonyms. I do believe my role was beneficial for this study because of my knowledge regarding training teachers received as it relates to the implementation of the HighScope curriculum. My familiarity with the topic and learning environment will enrich understanding.

I was aware that the potential for researcher bias exists during the research process. It was important that I remained unbiased during all interactions or communications with participants and ensured data collection was not influenced by my personal thoughts and feelings. It was important to be cognizant of biases and manage them effectively. This leads to a valid study. In order to mitigate and reduce biases based on my experiences as an ECE officer and professional development facilitator, I used several steps to validate of my study such as transcript reviews, peer reviewing, and keeping a journal. I showed participants a summary of draft findings from individual interviews. This helped me check the accuracy of findings and increase the validity of my study. To reduce any biases, a peer reviewer (see Appendix A) checked interview questions prior to the beginning of interviews, and reviewed data analysis to check the accuracy. A reflective journal was used to document my reflections as they related to my biases, beliefs, and assumptions. Keeping a journal allowed me to address influences, perceptions, and background knowledge. I also maintained a professional demeanor during the interview process and kept my personal beliefs and knowledge to myself.

## Methodology

### **Participant Selection**

I used purposeful sampling to intentionally select all participants for the study . This strategy allowed me to intentionally select educators to obtain a better understanding of the central phenomenon. These participants were critical to the study, since they were familiar with the preschool program and were implementing the program in the school. It was critical that participants met set criteria to ensure in-depth insights about their experiences to effectively answer research questions. This ensured participants were knowledgeable about the problem or phenomenon in the study and expressed their willingness to participate in the study .

I recruited 12 preschool teachers and two ECE officers to participate in the study. All participantswere a preschool teacher for over 2 years in two specific educational districts, received training regarding the implementation of the HighScope curriculum, and were presently implementing the HighScope curriculum in the classroom. For the ECE officers, the criteria were that participants works for the district or directly supervised preschool teachers at selected educational districts for at least 3 years, in addition to knowledge about the HighScope program.

The sample size for qualitative research varies. Data saturation was achieved during data analysis to assure that the number wassufficient for answering the research questions. Based on the two educational districts, the goal was to have 12 preschool teachers and two ECE officers who met the selection criteria. Participants included three preschool teachers from each of the four different preschools and two ECE officers who participated in the study, a total of 14 female participants. The size of the participants is critical in qualitative research. According to Patton (2015), there are no specific rules for size in qualitative research. Also, the study has two research questions. The sample included educators from different educational districts. Based on data saturation, 14 participants were adequate for the study as data became repetitive. Semi-structured interviews were used, and the smaller sample allowed for a more manageable study and realistic way of understanding challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and support needed as opposed to frequency of activities. This was critical based on time and resource constraints.

Purposeful sampling was used to select the 14 participants for the study. The focus was to select participants who could provide relevant data based on the phenomenon. Participants were preschool teachers and early childhood educators

working for preschools implementing the HighScope curriculum. I applied to Walden University's Institutional Board (IRB) for approval to conduct research. After approval was granted (approval #01-04-21 -0663233), I sought permission from the Ministry of Education to carry out research in districts.Preschool teachers were identified by ECE officers who supervised them. Officers were asked to submit a list of names and contact information for preschool teachers who met criteria for participation in the study. Based on the list, potential participants were selected and via email, a detailed letter of invitation to voluntarily participate in the study was sent to each participant. As educators responded by expressing their interest to participate in the study via email, phone conversations were held with potential participants to provide further details regarding the study. Consent forms were sent via email so they could understand the study. Participating preschool teachers and early childhood educators replied via email if they consented. Participants selected were provided with contact information to clarify information if necessary.

## Instrumentation

The data collection method for this research was semi-structured interview and I created the data collecting instrument, interview questions. I used WhatsApp, and Skype to conduct interview with preschool teachers (Appendix A) and ECE officers (Appendix B) due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The use of any particular platform depended upon the technology that participants had or what was convenient for them. The interviews were appropriate for this qualitative research as the aim was to gain educators' perspectives about challenges teachers face implementing the HighScope curriculum, and

support needed for effective implementation (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017). The questions for the semi-structured interview were developed by the researcher in order to address the research questions. The questions provided an opportunity for a natural conversation where the participants were able to express themselves. As part of questioning, it was possible for the researcher to gain clarity and assess the relevancy of responses given. The interview questions were researcher-produced to ensure the questions asked are specific, relevant, and open-ended to ensure the participants can freely articulate their responses. The questions were set to obtain early childhood educators' perspectives about challenges teachers face implementing the HighScope curriculum, and the support they need for executing the curriculum effectively.

The sufficiency of the data collection instrument to answer the research questions was established as the instrument allowed greater responses and more descriptive responses from participants as the opportunity was provided to ask open-ended questions Creswell & Creswell, 2018). I was able to control the flow of questions using openended questions. Since the research focused on getting participants' perspectives and insights directly, semi-structured interview was quite appropriate. Semi-structured interviews also allowed the opportunity for follow up questions to probe deeper and gain clarity from participants.

# Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

### **Recruitment Procedures and Participation**

Recruitment procedures followed the requirements of the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the Walden University. After approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) (approval # 01-04-21-0663233), I requested permission from the Ministry of Education to conduct research indistricts. After I obtained approval from the Ministry of Education, the signed notification of approval from the Ministry of Education was submitted and confirmed by Walden IRB. I then contacted district ECE officers for the names and contact information of preschool teachers that met the criteria. I then selected from the list, preschool teachers who were invited to participate in the study. An email was sent to preschool teachers and ECE officers that were selected based on specific criteria. The email included an introduction, purpose of the study, and invitation asking for informed consent to participate in the study. Then, a consent form was sent via email so potential participants could understand the study. The informed consent form included purpose of the study, what is expected of participants, how data will be collected, ethical guidelines, voluntary nature of participation, confidentiality and privacy of data, process for withdrawal, and contact information. The potential participant was given 24 to 48 hours to review the study requirement before consenting to participate. The participating preschool teachers and early childhood educators replied with the email stating, 'I consent.' A phone conversation was held with preschool teachers and ECE officers to provide further details on the study, verify that criteria are met for selection and schedule a date for the interview. The participants were allowed to keep a copy of the consent form. Each participant was assigned a pseudonym to promote confidentiality.

## **Data Collection**

The data were collected through semi-structured interview. Each participant chose the location, medium, date, and time for the interview. Interviews were conducted via

WhatsApp, and Skype. Participants were interviewed individually at their place of residence to ensure privacy and comfort. The duration for the interview was 45 to 60 minutes. The protocol for the interview was explained to participants including the voluntary nature in that participant can withdraw from the study at any time or for any reason. Participants were reminded of the need to audio record the interview so it could be transcribed later. The participants were informed that an audio-recording device will be set up to document the interview and hand notes will be taken. The interview was recorded and dated for future reference. I conducted a debriefing at the end of the interview and allowed participants to ask questions or make a comment on any aspect of the interview process (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I asked participants for an additional 30 minutes another time to verify responses to ensure that responses are accurately represented. I also expressed thanks to participants reminding them that they can request a copy of the transcribed interview at any time. The interview responses remained confidential, and participants were contacted later to review the data analysis. The data collection events took place over a period of two weeks as seven interviews were conducted per week.

#### Data Analysis Plan

The data analysis plan included thematic coding (Braun & Clarke, 2013; Saldana, 2016). The qualitative data analysis software used was Atlas.ti 9. This software was used to assist in transcription of the interviews, coding transcripts, and grouping the codes that emerge into categories and themes. Semi-structured interview responses from the recording were transcribed and the notes from the interview were analyzed. This was

done to answer the research questions that focused on challenges teachers faced implementing the HighScope curriculum, and support needed for effective implementation. The research questions provided a focus for data collection and the structure of the semi-structured interview questions. The data analysis began with precoding as I read the questions first, then I read the interview transcripts and notes prior to beginning the coding process as indicated. This involved listening to the interview recording several times, reading the interview transcript, and making notes (Creswell, 2015). After this was done, I coded the data using open coding. The focus was on identifying common terms and phrases based on the participants' responses that are relevant to the research question. This then led to grouping the codes that go together. I identified relationship among the data or groups of codes that can go together by establishing categories and themes.

The next stage in the coding process was thematic analysis. This included identifying parts of the text to generate categories, then searching the text for emerging themes, labeling themes, and then establishing themes for the report (Braun & Clarke, 2013; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). If there were any discrepant cases, these were documented and reported as this increased the validity of the results. To address any discrepant cases, a review of the coding process was done to ensure participants' perspectives were accurately recorded.

#### Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness is an important area of qualitative research. The researcher must ensure the data is collected, analyzed, and interpreted with rigor and in an ethical manner (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). There are several strategies that can be used to ensure trustworthiness in qualitative research. Researchers focus on credibility, dependability, conformability, and transferability to establish the trustworthiness of qualitative research (Ravitch & Carl, 2016; Silverman, 2016).

Credibility involves the extent to which the research findings are consistent with reality (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The use of the semi-structured interview during the data collection process provided the opportunity for an in-depth understanding of early literacy development. This helped to address the issue of researcher bias and inconsistencies (Patton, 2015). I crossed check audio-recordings of interviews and the transcripts to ensure both were aligned. I kept a reflective journal to record my observations before, during, and after interviews. Also, to enhance credibility, I used member check by allowing participants to review the summary of draft findings to ensure accuracy of information. The summary of the draft findings was sent via email after the interview was completed. The participants had an opportunity to make the necessary corrections. Participants were allowed to discuss with the researcher to clarify, add, or modify to help validate the data collected. An expert reviewer that holds a doctorate in education checked the interview questions prior to the beginning of the interview, and reviewed data analysis to check accuracy of the information and bias (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

In qualitative study, transferability involves the ability to transfer and generalize findings so that if another study is done in another setting, it may produce similar data (Creswell, 2016; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). I enhanced transferability by selecting schools

that were typical in terms of implementation of the HighScope curriculum across two districts. This was also established by variation in the participants selected, I included both early preschool teachers and early childhood education officers that provided instructional support to teachers. The participants came from different educational districts. The variation was in the area of demography and years of experience teaching at the preschool level. The use of semi-structured interviews allowed me to collect rich, thick descriptions that will enable readers to understand the key areas of the study and to determine if the results can be transferable to other situations (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Dependability in qualitative research involves the extent to which the processes and procedures used for analyzing data can be tracked (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). To enhance dependability, an audit trail included detailed description of methods used to collect and analyze data and description of the participants' selected, and sampling methods. The data will be kept for about five years so that it can be reviewed if there is a need at any point. I also used a research journal to document my reflections, questions, perceptions, biases, and decisions during the study to assist with the audit trail. All these strategies helped to enhance dependability and enhance confirmability.

In qualitative research, confirmability refers to the accurate depiction of participants experiences without predisposition (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). One method I used to ensure conformability was to keep a researcher's journal. In this journal, I recorded my own reflections, questions, perceptions, biases, and decisions as it relates to the study. I followed the strict protocols for data collection and analysis. I had debriefing to corroborate the data and findings (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). It is important to maintain detailed record of all the procedures used in conducting the research and checking to ensure the data is collected as planned. The participants checked a summary draft of findings for accuracy as part of a member checking process. An expert reviewer that holds a doctorate degree in education also reviewed data analysis to increase the validity and credibility of the study. Maintaining details records of data analysis, keeping a journal, participants reviewing a summary draft of the findings, and having an expert reviewer review data analysis helped increase trustworthiness of my study.

# **Ethical Procedures**

It is critical that research is conducted in the most ethical manner (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). As a researcher, I have a responsibility to follow the ethical guidance to ensure the results of the study can make a valuable contribution to the academic policy in early childhood education. The ethical practices used during the research process can safeguard research participants and improve the validity of the research. All participants must be protected from harm or risk and safeguard their rights both during and at the stage of presenting the findings. To enhance ethical quality, there were key procedures that were followed related to participants and data processing.

I requested approval to conduct the research from Walden's IRB and then the Ministry of Education. Obtaining approval ensured that all ethical procedures were in place to carry out the research and participants were protected. Potential participants were given a letter of invitation and it was made clear to each participant the voluntary nature of the research. Participants were informed that they can withdraw at any time without any penalty. All participants were informed of the details of the study including purpose of the study and procedures such as steps that will be taken to protect information and privacy (Gaudet & Dominique, 2018). The participants were required to read and sign the informed consent form before they can participate in the research.

Interview protocol was followed, and the early childhood educators were given the opportunity to review the answers given during the interview for any errors or misinterpretations. All demographic information, which included the names of schools and participantswere kept confidential as pseudonyms were used when referring to participants (Yin, 2016). All identifying information was left out of the report to protect participants from being known by the public. To ensure confidentially and protection of data, data stored on the computer were password protected on a computer located at home. Any hard copies of materials from the study will be kept for five years locked in my home office. Participants who wanted to withdraw, this was honored, and participants were asked to send an email indicating their decision.

#### Summary

Chapter 3 provided details description of the methodology of the study that was used. Included in this chapter are a description and rationale of the research design, sampling procedures, data collection and analysis, issues of trustworthiness and ethical considerations. The basic qualitative study was selected to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum, and support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively. This approach was selected to ensure in-depth descriptions were provided to understand the challenges teachers face in implementing the HighScope curriculum, and the support needed for effective implementation. The sample for the research consists of

12 preschool teachers and two ECE officers for a total of 14 participants. Data were collected through semi-structured interviews and the data were analyzed using open coding and thematic coding. Several measures were in place to ensure the study is conducted in an ethical manner. These measures included keeping participants data private to ensure participants are not known to the public and data were secured. In Chapter 4, a detailed presentation of research findings based on data analysis is presented.

#### Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about the challenges in implementing the HighScope curriculum, which involves balancing child-initiated and teacher-directed activities, and the support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively. The research questions for this study were:

*RQ1:* What are the perspectives of early childhood educators about the challenges involved with implementing the HighScope curriculum in Grenada?

*RQ2:* What support do early childhood educators perceive they need to execute the HighScope curriculum effectively in Grenada?

In Chapter 4, I reviewed settings in which the study occurred as well as demographic and characteristic information about participants. Second, I present a description of the data collection process and methods used for data analysis and results. Third, I describe evidence of trustworthiness. Finally, Chapter 4 concludes with a summary of answers to the research questions.

#### Settings

Participants were all female early childhood educators employed bythe Ministry of Education. Participants included 12 preschool teachers and two ECE officers from two educational districts in Grenada. Education officers' roles and responsibilities included supervision and monitoring of the early childhood program from preschool to third grade. This included monitoring the implementation of the HighScope curriculum in preschool settings. All participant officers were attached to the district or directly supervised preschool teachers in selected educational districts for at least 3years and were knowledgeable about the HighScope program. Criteria for participation in this study for preschool teachers were that they had to be preschool teachers for over 2 years within two specific educational districts, received training regarding the implementation of the HighScope curriculum, and was implementing the HighScope curriculum in the classroom. All participants met the criteria.

Participants' years of service in the education system ranged from 3 to 43 years. For preschool teachers, years of implementing the HighScope curriculum ranged from 3 to 13 years. As it relates to level of qualification, three participants had bachelor's degrees, four participants had associates degrees, one participant had a diploma, three participants possessed a certificate, and one participant passed Caribbean Examination Council (CXC) and General Certificate of Education (GCE) ordinary level Subjects CXC/GCE O'Level subjects. CXC is an institution that provides secondary school leaving examinations and GCE is a secondary examination conducted by institutions across the United Kingdom.

#### **Data Collection**

After approval from the IRB (approval #01-04-21-0663233), I requested permission from the Ministry of Education to conduct research. Following approval from the Ministry of Education, a signed notification of approval from the Ministry was submitted and confirmed by Walden IRB. I then contacted district ECE officers for names and contact information of preschool teachers whomet criteria. I then selected from the list preschool teachers who were invited to participate in the study. I sent an email invitation to 14 potential participants, including preschool teachers and ECE officers. The email included an introduction, purpose of the study, and invitation asking for informed consent to participate in the study. During the same week that the invitation was sent, I received responses from all 14 participants indicating consent to participate in the study. Telephone conversations were held individually with each of the 12 preschool teachers and two ECE officers. I described the study over the phone and verified that each potential participant met criteria. Once it was determined they met the criteria, pseudonyms were assigned to participants.

An expert reviewer was used formy study. The expert reviewer selected holds a doctorate in education and worked in the education field as a teacher, principal, district education officer, and deputy chief education officer. Prior to conducting interviews, I emailed the expert reviewer a confidentiality agreement to be signed. After the agreement was signed, I emailed interview questions to the expert reviewer to ensure questions were valid and clear. The expert reviewer responded indicating that questions were clear and aligned with the research questions. The expert reviewer also reviewed the data analysis.

Data were collected using semi-structured interviews with a total of 14 participants, which included 12 preschool teachers and two ECE officers. Due to this study taking place during the COVID-19 pandemic, interviews were held via WhatsApp and Skype since they were most convenient to use at the time. Zoom and Facetime calls were not needed.Eleven participants were interviewed individually at their place of residence to ensure privacy and comfort over a 2-week period. Three participants were interviewed in offices to ensure a noise-free space, privacy, and ease of access to Wifi. I chose my home office with the door closed to interview all participants to ensure privacy and confidential during WhatsApp or Skype calls. Interview protocols were followed, and participants granted permission to be audio recorded. Each interview was recorded using a cell phone recorder. During interviews, I kept a reflective journal to document my reflections and minimize my biases and beliefs as part of the audit trail. I took notes and highlighted responses where there was a need to ask follow-up questions, seek clarification, or ask for elaboration. I kept notes based on responses where I liked to ask follow-upquestions and sought clarification or elaboration before I asked the next question. At the end of each interview, I expressed thanks to each participant for participating in the study. Recording of each interview was saved on my passwordprotected computer to ensure all data were kept secured.

The recordings of the interview were then uploaded to the qualitative data analysis software ATLAS.ti.9. The software was used during the transcription process, but the transcription was done manually. Software features were used for playing audio and typing interview recordings. I then reviewed transcripts to ensure accuracy and spelling errors. Spelling errors and inaccurate information were identified and corrected in transcripts. All transcripts were saved, and while there were no unusual circumstances encountered during data collection, there was one variation in the initial plan for transcription, which involved using the software to transcribe the data. Transcription was done using ATLAS.ti 9 software. Software features were used for playing audio and typing interview recordings. I decided to manually transcribe interviews to be able to scrutinize the entire data set before starting the data analysis process.

#### **Data Analysis**

The data analysis process included transcribing data collected from semistructured interviews, coding transcripts, and organizing codes that emerge into categories and themes, and then completing the member-checking process. The first step in the data analysis process was to transcribe audio recordings from interviews. Audio files were uploaded to ATLAS.ti 9 software from which they were transcribed manually and saved using the software on my personal password-protected computer. I read transcripts three times to ensure accuracy based on audio recordings.

The process began with precoding as I read transcripts multiple times to gain an understanding of what each participant was sayingand engaged in interview transcripts and notes. Manual coding was done using ATLAS.ti 9 to manage and analyze data. Using ATLAS.ti9 software, I examined each transcript individually and coded data using open coding. This allowed me to label information in text that was meaningful and stood out. I highlighted sentences and paragraphs that were salient from transcripts and captured voices of participants. The two research questions and the conceptual framework were used as guides to identify codes. Using ATLAS.ti 9, codes were identified for each transcript and labeled. Some of the main codes that were assigned to the data were: teacher control, learning activity, mindset, resistance, no corners or centers, lack of materials, giving children choices, lack of willingness to accept change, help from officers, no parent help at home, school visits, need play items, poor adult-child interaction, small classroom, coworker support, training, resources for teachers, and little

training. These codes involved teachers' classroom behaviors, needs, challenges, and attitudes.

After a list of codes was created, they were grouped into several categories involving similar ideas. Categories that were created were: negative attitude toward change, instructional supervision, workshops, parents assisting children, play materials, inadequate in-service training, lack of teaching and learning materials, and insufficient visit to schools by education officers. Next, categories were created and merged into themes. I reviewed interview transcripts along with codes and categories to develop themes. Themes that emerged from data based on the research questions were: lack of resources, educators' resistance to curriculum change, insufficient support provided for teachers, increased professional development and training to support teachers, provision of teaching and learning materials, frequent supervision and monitoring by ECE officers, and parental support.

Although discrepant cases are common in qualitative research, there was no evidence of discrepant cases that emerged from the data. I checked for discrepancies by reviewing data collected from semi-structured interviews and compared findings to emerging themes. This was done by carefully going through interview transcripts, ensuring that nothing said was overlooked, and all transcripts represented exactly what participants said during interviews. Finally, participants had the opportunity to review a draft summary of findings to check data analysis.

#### Results

The purpose of this basic qualitative study is to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in implementing the HighScope curriculum and support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively. The research questions which guided this basic qualitative research study were developed with the goal of exploring the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges involved with implementing the HighScope curriculum and support they perceive they need to execute the HighScope curriculum effectively in Grenada. Semi-structured interviewswere used to explore participants' perspectives regarding the research questions and results are based on analyses from interviews. In this section of the chapter, findings of the study are organized in sections based on themes that emerged. Furthermore, representative quotes have been included to clarify points under discussion.

#### **Themes Based on RQ1**

In understanding the perspectives of early childhood educators, RQ1 was:What are the perspectives of early childhood educators about the challenges involved with implementing the HighScope curriculum in Grenada? The results of semi-structured interviews were organized according to three themes and presented in detail in the following sections (see Table 1).

# Table 1

Themes and Categories Based on Research Question 1

Themes	Categories
Lack of resources	• Teaching and learning materials
Educators' resistance to curriculum change	Human Resources
	Infrastructural resources
	Financial Resources
	• Negative attitude to change
	• Lack of buy-in to child-centered approach
	• Primary teachers do not understand
	or value what is done at the
Insufficient support provided for teachers	preschool
	• Fixed mindset:teacher-centered
	approach
	• Insufficient visit to schools by early
	childhood education officers
	• Inconsistency in the information
	provided by education officers
	• Inadequate in-service training
	• Lack of pre-service HighScope
	training
	• Parents' limited understanding
	about and involvement in the
	HighScope curriculum

*Note.* Table shows the themes and categories that emerged from the data. The categories are associated with each of the themes. The themes are the challenges educators faced implementing the HighScope curriculum.

# Lack of Resources

One theme that consistently emerged from all interviews was lack of resources. All participants claimed that lack of resources was a challenge as they implemented the HighScope curriculum. Participants revealed that the availability of teaching and learning materials is very important during the implementation of the curriculum, since the curriculum involves active participatory learning. There were not sufficient materials available for usein the classroom. PM said, "I would say, sometimes materials are not available. I try to use the things that I have in my environment as much as possible, but sometimes materials are just not available."PN explained:

The provision of appropriate and sufficient materials:sometimes you find teachers do not have materials for children to be able to problem solve, think critically, investigate, and explore. This can not happen because there are not sufficient and appropriate materials for children.

Several participants noted that lack of materials affected the quality of instruction and experiences for children in the classroom. Implementation is compromised by lack of resources since curriculum is play-based; children are required to have matarials to work with and be actively engaged throughout the daily routine. PH said:

Sometimes a little material you may want to bring out a specific lesson and then you have to fish around to get the materials. I think is the materials because sometimes the teachers will say I can do it that way but we don't have the materials to bring it out. Children are also affected negatively bylack of availability of materials, as teachers may not be able to assess them effectively based on KDIs. PD said:

We don't have material available. This means, if we don't have available materials, some things in the KDIs, some skills, basic skills, probably would not be developed. We may not get to see if the children were really indicating to us what is happening because the materials were not available to help make this posible.

Many participants raised concerns that children need variety of materials that are attractive, materials that will bring out their creativity and excite them but this can be very costly. Most of the participants indicated that schools do not have adequate financial resources which make it difficult to consistently procure materials needed to support teaching and learning. PM said, "So the materials are a main factor. It can be costly, sometimes you have to get a variety of materials which may be very costly. So this is one of the main challenge I have."PB concurred:

For instance, you might want to do a project with your students, craft sticks are not cheap. If you want to give children variety, want to give children choices, you have to spend so much and it's expensive for teachers.

Lack of adequate space in and outside of the classroom is also a challenge as it prevents children from being comfortable to explore and develop skills during the daily routine. Some participants indicated the schools lack appropriate funiture and outdoor play equipment for children. The lack of outdoor play equipment is specific for building large and fine motor skills.PF explained: I am also looking at my classroom having more resources as well so that the HighScope curriculum can be at its best. Also, an area for my children to be able to explore on the outside of my classroom is needed as well.Inside the classroom, I would like to have seating available for my student, so that I myself will be able to spread them out more in the classroom and they can be more comfortable when exploring in the daily routine.

Participants expressed concerns about small classroom space that impedes effective implementation of components of the routine such as setting up learning centers or corners. PB said, "Resources - availability of resources and an adequate environment to facilitate the practice of HighScope is needed. In order for HighScope to be as effective, we need to have the space. We don't have this space." PB went on to say:

So some corners cannot fit. The children, they do not have space to move and with new COVID protocols, everything going on in the world now, it is very difficult for HighScope to be effective with that limited space.

Some participants strongly felt that lack of assistant teacher to help in the classroom has made it difficult to effectively scafold or support children during components of the daily routine.PB said, "So sometimes it takes away from you. We don't have teaching assistants in the classroom."Also, a quick turn over of teachers that have received HighScope training and they are moved out of the preschools to other grades has created a challenge with curriculum implementation.PK said:

One I can think of is the quick turn over of teachers. So, you may show up in a school and there is a change over with the teacher, which means that the training you would have provided, the teacher would have left.

Although teachers received training, there are still teachers with limited knowledge about the HighScope curriculum. This affects the quality of instruction in the classroom. PB stated, "When you have teachers who do not really understand what it is they have to do or do not understand. The new teachers for instance, who don't understand the HighScope curriculum." PJ also highlighted this concern. PJ said, "Teachers say this three levels things they don't know about that, they can't do that. I think these are all hinderances to proper implementation of the HighScope curriculum."

#### Educators' Resistance to Curriculum Change

Another theme that emerged was that many participants expressed concern that some teachers have a negative attitude towards change and as a result some teachers are resistant to change. Some older teachers are set in their ways and not willing to adapt to change. PK stated:

Another one of the challenges we face is breaking away from the old way of doing things. Persons are still stuck to the old way of doing things. We are finding it a challenge to get some of them to break away and stick to what is right that they are supposed to be doing.

Some teachers have this fixed mindset or attitude where the teacher is transmitter of information or knowledge and directs each activity thus not providing opportunities for active participatory learning. As a result, some teachers are resistant to change the

teacher-centered approach and move to both teacher and students sharing control. PK said:

We came from a period of teacher directedness. The teacher shows up in the classroom and teaches. You get the feeling, the teacher is the holder of all information. She knows everything and is impacting knowledge to the children by just talking to them.

Teachers persist in doing what they have always done and are uncomfortable with change. PJ further stated, "I heard old teachers in the system say it. I even heard some of them say, I only teaching HighScope if the supervisor comes. If the supervisor not there, things as normal."

Participants shared the concern that teachers are of the view that children have been learning with the previous approaches so there is no need to change it. There are early childhood educators who think differently about how they should work with young children as forwarded by the HighScope curriculum and they lack knowledge about the curriculum. As a result, there is the challenge of lack of buy-in to the new approach to teaching young children. Some preschool teachers lack knowledge about the importance of play in the teaching and learning process. For example, PJ said:

There is this mindset that HighScope is like wasting time. HighScope is only play. There is this mindset that we have been having results in the old way, why bring in something new that takes away control from us and places it in the hands of the child. So this is the mindset some of the teachers have. I heard a lot of them saying they have been teaching for all the years and nothing happened, so I think mindset can affect implementation.

Several participants also highlighted culture of the school and community as a challenge. Some teachers are not willing to adopt the curriculum to our culture or context. PB explained, "One of the things that I think we need to be mindful of is adapting to our culture, to make it more effective. I think that is where we have some of the challenges, for some of our teachers." Similar sentiments were stated by PK, "Our culture is something that could be a challenge to what we would like to see happen in the classroom." Teachers perception of the curriculum is that it is suited for another country and not applicable for Grenada. PB said, "Sometimes you hear teachers talking about that is an American approach, how do they expect it to work here."

#### **Insufficient Support Provided to Teachers**

Participants in the study pointed out that insufficient support was provided to teachers from ECE officers or the Ministry of Education in terms of school visits, professional development opportunities and training. PM stated, "So if more support is given from persons coming in to visit, I believe that the curriculum would be, you know, more effective within the classroom for both teacher and students."Suppervison provided to teachers was limited as officers did not visit schools on a regular basis. In refereing to visits to schools from ECE officer, PK shared, "I think if we have more of that, in our school, I will do better. I know for a fact supervision is limited and we should have more supervision." The visits to schools to observe lessons and provide feedback were not enough. PK stated, "So sometimes the period we should be in the school working with children and teachers, I think it is not sufficient. I think it is a big problem."

Some participants articulated their concerns about inconsistency in information from the ECE officers during school visits. There were inconsistencies as it relates to the information about practices implementing the HighScope curriculum. At times, information shared by ECE officers varied from one officer to another. PJ said that one officer might say this is how something has to be done and another officer tells you something different. PJ explained:

One supervisor tells you one interpretation. One supervisor interprets something one way and they will tell you this is the way to do it. Another supervisor will pass by and ask you why you doing that and that is not the way to do it.

Many participants discussed that in- service training and professional development opportunities for teachers, especially new teachers, were inadequate in terms of quality and quantity. PJ stated, "The ministry should look into that and have it more regular in terms of personal development for preschool teachers. I also think maybe, they wait to long. We basically have training once a year."The training was not frequent enough; it generally took place during the two weeks summer holiday.

There are new teachers in the classroom that do not have knowledge and skills to implement the curriculum effectively. PL said, "And I also think that we need to do some more training, because we have some new teachers coming into the system, and some of them have not really grasp it or understand how the curriculum works."PL eloborated:

Teachers need training in the Highscope curriiculum especially delivering during the small group, how to go about teaching or getting to children during small group or even through out the day-small group or large group. These two areas,I think teachers need training with the curriculum.

In addition, participants highlighted lack of pre-service HighScope training before a teacher started teaching in the preschool. Teachers are hired without knowledge about the HighScope curriculum, and they are expected to implement it.PM said:

I was just thrown into the classroom, when I went back to my school and the HigScope was implemented. This was new to me so being fresh from college it was very hard for me to implement the HighScope curriculum.

Another participant indicated that it was difficult to implement the HighScope curriculum. PA eloborated, "Initially, initially, it was difficult for me. It was challenging for me to implement it because not knowing much about it and having to implement it was very challenging."

Participants also identified the challenge of parents' limited knowledge about and involvement in collaborating with teachers in their children's learning.PD said, "When considering stakeholders, the parents are the first point of contact for children. This posed a great challenge in the early implementation of the HighScope curriculum."Some parents do not understand the curriculum and as a result have unrealistic expectations of both teacher and children. PJ explained, "I have had the issue where parents asked, how come we did not see a worksheet. I will have to explain that the lesson we did today, did not need a worksheet."PJ felt strongly about parents expectations and went on to further eloborate:

A lot of parents will not sit down and speak with their children to see what they know. All they know is that they come at the end of the term and see a big portfolios with a lot of papers and a lot of this and that. This to had been a sort of hinderance to effective implementation of the curriculum.

Participants also expressed concerns about parents lack of knowledge about the curriculum. PI said:

One challenge that stands out is that sometimes the parents do not really understand the curriculum and they will look for more from the students. For example, they may expect the child to be writing at a certain age or they want to see more work from the students and maybe the child does not reach that level yet or the child is not at that developmental stage.

The limited support from parents in terms of colloboration with teachers and assistance for children was noted. PF stated "The challenges also in the home visit; visiting the parents on a regular basis. Sometimes you have parents who are disagreeing with the visitation."PF explained, "You learn about challenges and difficulties first hand when speaking to the parents about assisting them."

There was also a lack of resources for teachers to use for their own professional development such as books, curriculum materials, newslettters and journals. Participants stated that these are needed to do the job in the classroom. PK said, "One of the

challenges I did not mention is materials. Teachers need materials for doing the job in such as books, curriculum materials, newsletters, journals. All those things are lacking."

# Themes Based on RQ2

The early childhood educators shared their perspectives on RQ2: What support do early childhood educators perceive they need to execute HighScope curriculum effectively in Grenada? The results of semi-structured interviews were organized according to four themes and presented in detail in the following sections (see Table 2).

# Table 2

Themes and Categoriesbased o	on Research Question 2
------------------------------	------------------------

Themes	Categories
Increase professional development and	Workshops
training to support teachers.	Pre-service training
Provision of teaching and learning materials Frequent supervision and monitoring by early childhood education officers	Peer coaching
	Professional learning communities
	Play materials
	• Basic classroom materials for the
	job
	• Curriculum support materials
	<ul> <li>Availability of funding/financial</li> </ul>
	support
	<ul> <li>Instructional supervision</li> </ul>
	• Monitoring of the early childhood
	centers
	<ul> <li>Regular school visits</li> </ul>
Parental involvement and education	• Parents assisting children
	Motivation
	<ul> <li>Parents' awareness about and</li> </ul>
	involvement in the HighScope
	curriculum

*Note.* Table 2 shows the themes and categories that emerged from the data. The

categories are associated with each of the themes; the themesare support educators need

to effectively execute HighScope curriculum.

#### Increased Professional Development and Training to Support Teachers

All participants indicated that they have received training for the implementation of the HighScope curriculum; however, they expressed the need for ongoing professional development and training workshop to develop their knowledge and skills. PK, for example, highlighted the view that teachers need training to build their understanding of the HighScope curriculum in specific areas. This can be training and accreditation from the HighScope foundation. PL explained, "Teachers need training in the Highscope curriiculum especially delivering during the small group."

Participants expressed concerns for new teachers in the education systems that have not received sufficient training or training at all. These teachers need support on a regular basis. PL shared, "Taking the new teachers out once a month from the classroom for a day, for training on different aspects of the daily routine. So they will have a better understanding of how the HighScope curriculum is implemented." Training for teachers in terms of curriculum implementation ought to be an ongoing process that gives teachers the opportunity to implement effectively.

Some participants expressed their views that the workshop sessions must be more interactive, inovative and diverse in terms of methods used. The workshop should also include sessions where teachers can show best practices. PJ shared, "Ministry could have some more inovative workshops." PB concured with this point by stating, "While we have the workshops and stuff like that for actual content, maybe we could try to find a

different way to make it more hands-on and interactive for the teachers. So have practical rather than more theoretical."

Particpants also related the fact that they need support in terms of ongoing workshop and training to keep current and up to date with implementing the HighScope currciulum. PH shared, "I think they need a refresher now and then, you know. You know when you get complacent you might just sit back,rock back, and tell yourself all is well. We could have little refresher now and then." PG expressed, "We need some more refresher courses.Sometimes you do things and you may get kind of stagnant in certain areas, so we might have one day refresher course in certain areas, something like that." Some particpants responses were a plea for additional support in terms of materials for not just for children to use but for supporting teachers as they implement the curriculum. PFsaid, "We need some more literature for reading. The reading literature: meaning that HighScope has a very vast library of different books and information on how we can proceed in different activities."

Participants indicated that support needed includes professional learning communities and peer coaching where teachers share their experiences with each other, regular colloborative planning for instruction.PN explained:

I also think that probably they can do a little bit more networking with persons who have fully understood the curriculum and has been properly implementing it.So they can do networking with with each other in order to improve.

Pre-service training is another area highlighted by many participants. Teachers need to get HighScope training before they are hired to teach in preschools. PA stated, "I think teachers should be trained to implement HighScope before they are sent to the classroom to learn it." PL expressed, "And I also think that we need to do some more training for teachers, because we have some new teachers coming into the system, and some of them have not really grasp it or understand how the curriculum works." This experience or support will help them gain knowledge about the HighScope curriculum.

## **Provision of Teaching and Learning Materials**

All participants expressed that sufficient resources are critical to ensure the effective implementation of the HighScope curriculum. Teachers need support from educational administrators as it relates to the provision of teaching and learning materials. PCsaid, "I am aware of all the economic constraints, problems, but I think that more materials can be given as well."Participants stated that the HighScope curriculum involves a child-centered approach to teaching and learning. The children must be engaged and actively involved in activities, as a result, they need matarials to provide these experiences on a daily basis. PD said, "We need to have, I need to have a wider variety of materials for children to work with."

Participants disscused that teaching and learning materials needed for effective implementation of the curriculum must be of different variety. There should be items for learning centers, outdoor equipment, basic stationery such as copy paper, markers, and craft items. PD stated, "In terms of physical resources in the class, things like paint, glue, paper, and stuff for Science areas." PD went on to share that variety is needed, "Wide variety of different materials for different learning centers, particularly the Math and Science areas."Teachers need both indoor and ourdoor resources so that the curriculum can be effectively implemented. PF explained, "Also, an area for my children to be able to explore on the outside of my classroom is needed as well. Inside the classroom, I would like to have better seating available for my student."Participants reported that schools lack funds and they are unable to purchase many of the necessary resources needed for teaching and learning.

# Frequent Supervision and Monitoring by ECE Officers

Although participants received support through school visits, participants clearly felt that frequent supervision and monitoring by ECE officers were support needed for effective implementation of the HighScope curriculum. They viewed supervision and monitoring as a way of providing support for teachers during implementation of the curriculum. PN stated, "So, I think that continued monitoring, supervision and probably direct coaching are needed." The ECE officers need to visit classrooms more regular to observe and provide guidance. PK stated, "Something I think a lot of. We need to be there more often. I do not think it is often enough."

The frequent visit to the classroom is a wonderful opportunity to observe lessons and provide feedback to teachers and on how they are managing changes as they implement the curriculum. PN explained, "Yes,I would have said monitoring and supervision where officers will do follow-up to check to see how teachers are doing after training." PB expressed that it must involve giving feedback after observation. PB stated, "The supervision will be like our ECE officer coming in and maybe spending the day with us and observing the routine, then giving us feedback according to what they would have seen during the daily activities."The support must involve lesson study where capable teachers demonstrate a lesson, or demonstration of activities. PB stated, "I believe modeling and demonstrations because while supervisors may come and might critique a lesson or an activity or your environment, teachers need to see it done." PE supported this. PE explained:

If we have more visits to the school; the officers coming into the schools to see how the lessons are done and guide us as to how it should be done.or if we are doing it correctly or incorrectly.

#### **Parental Involvementand Education**

Participants reported that parents have an important role to play in their children's learning and their involvement isneeded for effective implementation of the curriculum. PF expressed, "We can also have parents support. Parents support is emphasized within the HighScope curriculum, parents intervention, and getting feedback from the parents as well. These are the support we will need." Similar thoughts were expressed by another participant. PK said, "I think if we could have more support from parents and business community too; if we get more support, which will be really good."

Participants noted thatit is critical to get parents more involved and knowledgeable about the curriculum.PB stated, "One of the things is to get the parents more involved." Participants shared the concern for more parent education about the curriculum. PL stated, "It's just that we need to educate the parents more on what is happening in the classroom so that they will be able to help the children." As parents show interest in their childrens' learning, this will motivate children to do better in school. PL said, "I find if parents get more involved in school, I think we will have children do a lot better."Some participants indicated that if parents are aware of the curriculum, they can hold teachers accountable which can lead to quality curriculum implementation in the classroom. PK explained:

The principal said that a parent complained she did not see the message board. If parents are aware of what the curriculum is and what should happen in the school based on the curriculum, this will help, and it is really important for us.

# **Evidence of Trustworthiness**

Trustworthiness is an important component of qualitative research and the researcher must ensure data is collected, analyzed, and interpreted in an ethical manner (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I took many steps to ensure the study reflected the perspectives of participants and not personal bias. As outlined in Chapter 3, the strategies that are related to trustworthiness were implemented. The following strategies were discussed in this section to ensure trustworthiness: credibility, dependability, conformability, and transferability.

## Credibility

To ensure credibility, I used semi-structured interview to collect data which provided the opportunity for an in-depth understanding of early childhood educators perspectives about challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum and support teachers need to effectively execute the HighScope curriculum.I audio recorded interviews and transcribed each interview. Then the audio recording was cross checked with interview transcripts to ensure both were aligned. I kept a reflective journal during data collection process to document my reflections as it relates to my biases, beliefs, and assumptions.

Another strategy that was implemented to ensure credibility was member checking. I emailed a draft summary of the findings to each participant. The participants were asked to review the summary of the draft findings to ensure accuracy of information. All participants reviewed the draft and confirmed the accuracy of information without any changes.

In addition, an expert reviewer assisted with credibility of the study by reviewing interview questions and findings. The expert reviewer selected holds a doctorate in education and worked in education field as a teacher, principal, district education officer, and deputy chief education officer. The expert reviewer reviewed interview questions and indicated that it was aligned with the research questions. I emailed a draft of the findings to the expert reviewer. The expert reviewer reviewed the findings and indicated that the study was clear, and no biases were found.

## Transferability

Transferability involves the ability to transfer and generalize the findings so that if another study is done in another setting, it may produce similar data (Creswell, 2016; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Data collection process that was outlined in this Chapter was followed as outlined. I selected schools that were typical in terms of implementation of the HighScope curriculum across two educational districts. This enhanced transferability. I also selected both preschool teachers and ECE officers from two different districts with different years of teaching experience. This ensured variation in the participants selected. The early childhood education officers provided a list of contact information for preschool teachers that met selection criteria. Using the list, I selected 12 preschool teachers along with two ECE officers and emailed participants an invitation to participate in the study. All participants responded and agreed to participate in the study. Due to this study taking place during the COVID-19 pandemic, interviews were held via WhatsApp and Skype. All interviews were done via WhatsApp and Skype as these were selected by participants since it was most convenient to use at the time. Zoom and Facetime calls were not needed. Eleven participants were interviewed individually at their place of residence to ensure privacy and comfort over a 2-week period. Three participants were interviewed at a workplace office with closed door to ensure a noise free space, privacy, and ease of access to Wifi. I chose my home office with the door closed to interview all participants to ensure privacy and confidential during our WhatsApp or Skype calls. The participants were actively involved in the interview and responded to questions.

The descriptions provided as it relates to data collected, selection of participants, and data analysis helped with transferrable (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The information from this study that can be transferred to other preschool implementing the HighScope curriculum includes challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum and support teachers need to effectively execute the HighScope curriculum.

## Dependability

Dependability in qualitative research involves the extent to which the processes and procedures used for analyzing the data can be tracked (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). To ensure dependability, I used a research journal, member checks and audit trail. Since I was also an ECE officer, I kept a reflective journal and recorded my reflections, questions, biases, and decisions during the study. As part of the audit trail, I kept the original documents of the interview audio recordings, interview transcripts and reflective journal notes. The data will be kept for five years so that it can be reviewed if there is a need at any point. Member checking was conducted after data were analyzed. A draft of the findings was emailed to each participant for review, and they all confirmed the accuracy of the interpretation of the data from the interview.

#### Confirmability

In qualitative research, confirmability refers to the accurate depiction of the participants experiences without predisposition (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). To ensure confirmability, I kept the researcher's journal; I followed strict protocols for data collection and analysis, member checking and had an expert reviewer review the findings. In the researcher's journal, I recorded my own reflections, questions, perceptions, biases, and decisions as it relates to the study. Notes were taken during the interview and as data were analyzed. As it relates to following strict protocols, I maintained detailed records of all procedures used in conducting the research and checked to ensure data were collected as planned.

The findings were reviewed by both participants and an expert reviewer. The summary draft findings were emailed, and participants checked a summary draft of the findings for accuracy as part of the member checking process. Participants confirmed accuracy of the interpretation of the data from the interview. The draft findings were also emailed to the expert reviewer and the draft was also checked. The expert reviewer indicated that no biases were found, and the data was clear. All these strategies used assisted with the confirmability of this research.

#### **Summary**

The research questions that guided this study focused on the early childhood educators' perspectives about challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum and support needed to effectively execute the curriculum. The data showed the perspectives of early childhood educators regarding the challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum that included the following: lack of resources such as teaching and learning materials, educators' resistance to curriculum change, and insufficient support provided to teachers in areas such as professional development and school visits. The challenges affect the quality of experiences provided in preschool settings. In addition, the data showed that support early childhood educators need to effectively execute the HighScope curriculum included: increase professional development and training to support teachers, provision of teaching and learning materials, frequent supervision and monitoring by early childhood education officers and parental involvement and education.

In Chapter 5, I discuss interpretation of the findings and then present an explanation of limitations of the study. In addition, I present recommendations for future research and discuss implications for research findings. I also highlight the social change impacts that could result from this study. Finally, I present conclusions of this study.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum which involves balancing child-initiated and teacher-directed activities, and the support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively. Building on existing research that was conducted on curriculum implementation at the early childhood level, I seek to fill anexisting gap in practice regarding the many challenges teachers face when implementing the HighScope curriculum. It was important to conduct this study to understand the challenges teachers face and support needed for effective implementation of the HighScope curriculum, which can lead to finding ways to effectively implement the curriculum in early childhood settings.

The findings in this study indicated that as early childhood educators implemented the HighScope curriculum in preschool classrooms, they were faced with many challenges. These challenges include lack of resources, educators' resistance to curriculum change, and insufficient support provided for teachers. Many participants explained that the HighScope curriculum guiding principle involves active participatory learning where children must be engaged via appropriate materials, supportive environment, and adults. Participants believed these challenges can negatively affect the quality of instruction and support provided to students. Participants also believed that early childhood educators need support to be able to effectively implement the HighScope curriculum. Types of support identified as needed for effective implementation of the curriculum were increased professional development and training to support teachers, provision of teaching and learning materials, frequent supervision and monitoring by ECE officers, and parental support. In this chapter, I present my interpretation of the findings, describe limitations of the study, discuss recommendations for further research, and conclude with implications for positive social change and a summary of Chapter 5.

## **Interpretation of the Findings**

This study was guided by two research questions. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum and the support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively. Data sources were interviews with preschool teachers and ECE officers. I interpreted the findings of this study in the context of peer-reviewed research that was reviewed in Chapter 2 and the conceptual frameworks of Piaget's theory of cognitive development and Vygotsky's sociocultural theory. Interpretation of findings as they relate to each research question are discussed in detail in Chapter 5.

#### RQ1

RQ1 was: What are the perspectives of early childhood educators about the challenges involved with implementing the HighScope curriculum in Grenada? The findings indicated that teachers face challenges when implementing the HighScope curriculum in early childhood settings or preschools. Challenges include lack of resources, educators' resistance to curriculum change, and insufficient support provided

for teachers. These findings are consistent with research indicating that educators faced challenges implementing a new curriculum.

Through interviews, participants identified lack of resources as a major challenge in terms of implementation of the HighScope curriculum. Participants noted insufficient teaching and learning materials as well as limited space and furniture in some classrooms affected the quality of instruction. Lack of resources for teachers to help them gain knowledge as they implement the curriculum was a challenge. This included the provision of books, curriculum materials, newsletters, and journals. Aquino et al. (2017) said insufficient instructional materials and inadequate space for large class sizes were challenges teachers faced in implementing the curriculum. Balogi and Makhubele (2018) said lack of materials was an impediment to curriculum implementation.

Participants in this study said lack of adequate teaching and learning materials negatively affected quality of instruction and experiences provided to children. In turn, this affected curriculum implementation, as the HighScope curriculum requires the use of materials since it is play-based curriculum; children need to be actively engaged with materials. Limited materials affect the teaching and learning process (Govender, 2018). Learning emerges as a natural result of effective interaction and social communication within the environment. Play is viewed as a significant source of development for young children; it is a tool for learning (Ahmad et al., 2016; Prioletta & Poliszczuk, 2018; Sawyer, 2017).The notion of Vygotsky's sociocultural theory of development was important in terms of understanding how lack of materials can negatively affect curriculum implementation. Balogi and Makhubele (2018) noted that early childhood development centers lacked playgroundequipment and basic infrastructure. Five participants indicated that some schools did not have outside play areas or equipment for outside play. This was also a challenge as daily routines required outdoor space during the outside time component of the daily routine. Outdoor play equipment is necessary for building fine and large motor skills. Piaget's theory of cognitive development involves active participation for cognitive development. Lack of play areas and equipment can be a challenge in terms ofeffective implementation of the HighScope curriculum (Derman-Sparks, 2016). Five participants said there were limited human resources at the school. Assistant teachers were unavailable to help provide support in the classroom as they implemented the HighScope curriculum, especially during small group time. Participants noted lack of help in the classroom, which made it difficult in terms of following the daily routine. A challenge related to human resources involves early childhood educators' lack of knowledge about the HighScope curriculum.

Early childhood educators are critical during the implementation of curriculum. Ntumi (2016) said teachers not having a good grasp of early childhood curriculum can result in problems which relate to the content of the curriculum. The findings in this study supported this claim. Some early childhood teachers lack knowledge about the HighScope curriculum. It is important to note that this can affect the quality of instruction provided in the classroom.

Another challenge highlighted by two participants was that after preschool teachers received training regarding the HighScope curriculum, some were moved to

other grades in the school, and this affected implementation. Throughout my literature review, no research was found regarding early childhood teachers who received curriculum training moving from a specific level to another grade.

Participants said another major challenge in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum was insufficient support provided to teachers from ECE officers in the areas of training, professional development, and school visits. Findings from the current study indicated that in-service training and professional development provided for teachers were inadequate as they relate to quality and quantity. In this study, teachers indicated that training is needed as some teachers have limited knowledge about the HighScope curriculum, especially new teachers. Training was not frequent enough or interactive. Mligo (2016) said preschool teachers were not provided with adequate support in the form of training to better understand the early childhood curriculum. Preschool teachers felt they did not have pedagogical content knowledge to enhance in terms of the context of curriculum.

Recent research indicated that during the implementation of a new curriculum, preschool teachers were not provided with adequate support in terms of training and professional development. Training was not frequent enough and preschool staff was dissatisfied with the quality of the workshop conducted. This was confirmed in this study. Although teachers received training, in-service training and professional development sessions were inadequate as they related to quality and quantity.

Participants said that although teachers received training, many teachers had limited knowledge about the HighScope curriculum, and this was a challenge in terms of implementation. Mligo (2016) said implementation of the curriculum was challenging since some preschool teachers lacked knowledge regarding child-centered pedagogies and curriculum that they were expected to implement. Additionally, five participants expressed their concerns about lack of preservice HighScope training before teachers began to teach in preschool. It was noted that teachers are hired without knowledge about the HighScope curriculum. These teachers lack knowledge and skills to effectively implement the curriculum.

Parents are key stakeholders in the education of their children, and their lack of involvement can affect the implementation of a curriculum (Aquino et al., 2017; Boeckmann & Nichols, 2015). Participants raised concerns that some parents see play in the learning process as just for the purpose of fun. Some participants explained it was a challenge that some parents have limited knowledge about and involvement in their children's learning. Mligo (2016) said during the implementation of a new curriculum, parents lack awareness about their roles in the process as it relates to collaboration with teachers to enhance students' learning.

Many participants highlighted educators' resistance to curriculum change as a challenge in terms of implementing the HighScope curriculum. Participants expressed concerns that some teachers had negative attitudes towards change, and as a result were resistant to curriculum change. Some older teachers were not willing to adapt to change. Some teachers were resistant to the new curriculum. Chimbi and Jita (2019) said teachers may resist curriculum change in terms of implementation, and this is sometimes seen as dislike for the curriculum. Participants believed that some teachers lacked knowledge

about the curriculum, and as a result they did not buy in to the new curriculum or teaching approach.

Five teachers indicated that teachers felt the HighScope curriculumwas not applicable to Grenada. This finding also added to attitudes of resistance. Cheung (2017) said it was problematic for teachers to implement western creative pedagogy such as child-centered approaches in countries where there are differences in cultures.

Piaget (1926) said learning takes place through constructivist processes as children are active constructors of knowledge. The HighScope curriculum provides opportunities for children as active learners who interact with people and materials. By implementing the HighScope curriculum, teachers shift from teacher-centered approaches to more child-centered approaches. According to five participants in this study, itwas problematic for teachers to adapt to the new approach.

#### RQ2

RQ2 was: What support do early childhood educators perceive they need to execute the HighScope curriculum effectively in Grenada? Findings indicate that early childhood educators need support to execute the HighScope curriculum effectively in Grenada. Types of support educators perceived they needed were increased professional development and training to support teachers, provision of teaching and learning materials, frequent supervision and monitoring by ECE officers, and parental support. This finding is consistent with research indicating that educators need support as they implement a new curriculum. All participants agreed that for teachers to effectively execute the HighScope curriculum, they need support in terms of training and professional development. Participants have received training, but they expressed the need for ongoing training and professional development opportunities. PK noted their need to have this ongoing training to build curriculum in specific areas that are lacking. Nevenglosky et al. (2019) said there is a need for administrators to provide ongoing professional development sessions for teachers as they implement the curriculum. Teachers can benefit from such sessions as they help them develop comfort and important competencies when implementing a new curriculum.

Participants expressed the need to have workshops that are more interactive and diverse in terms of methods. It must include demonstrations for teachers.Balogi and Makhubele (2018) said training must be practical with opportunities to ensure consistent implementation of the curriculum.

All participants identified provision of teaching and learning materials as support teachers need to execute the HighScope curriculum effectively in Grenada. Participants indicated that resources are critical for the implementation of the HighScope curriculum since it focuses on active participatory learning. Teachers need support from administrators in the provision of teaching and learning materials and infrastructural resources. Ntumi (2016) recommended that administrators must provide the necessary teaching and learning materials for the teachers to ensure effective implementation of the early childhood curriculum. The findings are also aligned with Vygotsky (1986) and Piaget(1926) theories relating to cognitive development as the basis for curriculum design, principles, and practices.

The HighScope early childhood curriculum is rooted in Vygotsky(1986) and Piaget (1926) theories. Understanding these theories as the foundation of the HighScope curriculum helped explain the challenges faced by teachers and support needed for effective implementation of the HighScope curriculum. The need for children to be actively involved in experiences with people and object is the foundational idea of both theories and the HighScope curriculum. Vygotsky'ssociocultural theory is highlighted as this research focuses on implementation of the HighScope curriculum where play and interactions are critical to the development. In addition, Piaget (1926) believed that as children play, they assimilate new things and ideas, that is, they take in sensory information through their interactions with people and objects and incorporate this into their existing knowledge of people and objects. Both the theories support and the findings show the need for additional materials to facilitate active learning for the children in Grenada.

Six participants highlighted the need for this ongoing supervision and monitoring by ECE officers to support effective implementation of the curriculum. Teachers need regular school visits where lessons are observed and ECE officers provide feedback for continuous improvement. This finding is supported by Govender (2018), who noted that educational officers are required to visit schools to monitor and provide guidance to teachers. In addition, parents are key stakeholders in the teaching and learning process (Nyland & Ny, 2016). Participants in this study confirm that parents have an important role to play in curriculum implementation. It is important that they collaborate with teachers and gain knowledge about the curriculum so they can assist children in improving their learning outcomes.

## Limitations of the Study

The limitations that arose from the execution of this qualitative research study were centered on population or sample size and the methodology used. The study's population was limited to preschool teachers and ECE officers in two educational districts. All participants were from public schools and it would be interesting to have had the perspectives of teachers from other educational districts and private preschool. Including participants from other educational districts and the private preschools might also increase transferability.

The use of the qualitative approach for this study and the researcher as the only one responsible for collection of data and analysis, can lead to researcher bias. I have strong feelings about the effective implementation of the HighScope curriculum. To control biases, I kept a reflective journal to record reflections and biases. I also included member checking and had an expert reviewer to review the study findings. In addition, the expert reviewer reviewed data analysis and confirmed the accuracy of the analysis.

#### Recommendations

Based on the findings of this research, all participants shared the benefits of the HighScope curriculum to children. They expressed their views about the curriculum use in the classroom. I recommend that future research be done on the impact of the HighScope curriculum on areas of development. Longitudinal research can be conducted to follow a group of students to determine the impact of the curriculum.

Additionally, the participants of the study were from two educational districts and only public preschools.Public preschools are the schools that are managed and financed by Government. I recommend that future research replicate this study in different districts and with private, and public preschool teachers. By expanding the research, it will ensure a wider range of participants' perspectives about challenges and support needed to implement the curriculum effectively. Different districts and groups of preschool teachers may provide additional and/or different information. By expanding the research, this may allow early childhood educators and administrators to generalize and/or transfer the results more to their own settings.

Seven participants spoke about lack of parental involvement and knowledge about curriculum. Some parents are just not showing interest in their children's learning and this negatively affects the effective implementation of the HighScope curriculum. Additionally, more research is needed that focuses on parents' perspective about the HighsScope curriculum implementation at the preschool level. The research could focus on play-basedand child-centered approach.Finally, findings from this study indicated that some teachers have a negative attitude towards curriculum change and a fixed mindset to the traditional, teacher-centered approach to teaching and learning. A recommendation for future research based on this finding is to explore teachers' perspectives of playbased, child-centered approach in the education of young children at the early childhood level.

### Implications

Through interviews, all early childhood educators identified challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum and support needed to execute the curriculum effectively. In providing support needed for effective implementation of the HighScope curriculum, educators must consider both Vygotsky (1986) and Piaget (1926) theories. These theories are aligned to the HighScope curriculum as it highlights principles and practices that are the core of the HighScope curriculum. Exploring challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum and support early childhood educators perceive they need for effective execution of the curriculum could lead to better understanding of challenges and ways to address challenges. The implication for positive social change can involve students, early childhood educators, administrators, and policy makers. Positive social change can come about by administrators or the Ministry of Education becoming aware of the early childhood educators' challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum, and providing support needed for effective implementation. The results have implications for positive social change that could lead to policy changes to improve training for teachers, additional resources allocated to the classroom, and methods to improve the implementation of HighScope curriculum that could lead to better outcomes for children.

#### Conclusion

In this basic qualitative study, I explored the perspectives of early childhood educators about challenges in implementing HighScope curriculum, and support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively. Fourteen early childhood educators were interviewed:12 preschool teachers and 2 ECE officers. Many teachers face challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum, and may need additional support executing the curriculum effectively (Alfonso, 2017; Cheung, 2017). This study seeks to fill the existing gap in practice on the many challenges teachers face implementing the HighScope curriculum and support they need for implementing the curriculum effectively.

The findings of the study revealed that early childhood educators are faced with many challenges implementing the HighScope curriculum. The challenges include lack of resources, educators' resistance to curriculum change, and insufficient support provided for teachers. These challenges affect the quality of instruction provided at the preschool level. To effectively implement the HighScope curriculum, preschool teachers need support in terms of increase professional development and training to support teachers, provision of teaching and learning materials, frequent supervision and monitoring by early childhood education officers, and parental involvement and education. The findings from this study may inform administrators, policy makers, early childhood educators, and stakeholders of the challenges educators face implementing the HighScope curriculum and the ways they can support teachers for effective implementation of the curriculum. This study could also lead to policy changes on how teachers are trained and resources that are allocated to the classroom. In addition, if HighScope curriculum is implemented more effectively, implications for positive social change can also lead to better outcomes for children.

#### References

Addisu, K. M., & Wudu, M. T. (2019). Preschool curriculum implementation in Ethiopia: The case of selected Woredas preschools. *Cypriot Journal of Educational Sciences, 14*(2), 178-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.18844/cjes.v14i2.3882</u>

Ahmad, S., Ch, A. H., Batool, A., Sittar, K., & Malik, M. (2016). Play and cognitive development: Formal operational perspective of Piaget's theory. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(28), 72-79.

- Akinrotimi, A. A., & Olowe, P. K. (2016). Challenges in implementation of early childhood education in Nigeria: The way forward. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(7), 33-38.<u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1095294.pdf</u>
- Aktulun, O., & Kiziltepe, G. (2018). Using learning centers to improve the language and academic skills of preschool children. *World Journal of Education*, 8(6), 32. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/wje.v8n6p32</u>
- Aquino, L. N., Mamat, N., & Mustafa, M. C. (2017). Comparing the kindergarten curriculum framework of the Philippines and Malaysia. *International Journal of Early Childhood Education and Care*, 6, 27-

40.<u>https://doi.org/10.37134/saecj.vol6.4.2017</u>

Babbie, E. (2017). Basics of social research (7th ed.). Cengage Learning.

Bailey, D., Duncan, G. J., Odgers, C. L., & Yu, W. (2017). Persistence and fadeout in the impacts of child and adolescent interventions. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 10, 7-39.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2016.1232459

- Baird, T. J., & Clark, L. E. (2018). The 'look-ahead' professional development model: A professional development model for implementing new curriculum with a focus on instructional strategies. *Professional Development in Education*, 44(3), 326-341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2017.1308424</u>
- Bakir, N., Devers, C., & Hugs, B. (2016). Affordances and constraints of a blended course in a teacher professional development program. *Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia*, 25(4), 323-

341. https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/173260/

- Bakken, L., Brown, N., & Downing, B. (2017). Early childhood education: The longterm benefits. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 31(2), 255-269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2016.1273285</u>
- Baloyi, T. V., & Makhubele, J. C. (2018). Challenges impeding the successful implementation of early childhood development programmes in South Africa: Implications for practice. *Gender & Behaviour, 16*(1), 10773-10783.
- Baron, S., Immekus, J. C., González, J. C., & Yun, C. K. (2016). License to let go in transitional kindergarten programs: Supports and barriers of play-based strategies. *Curriculum and Teaching Dialogue, 18*(1-2), 103-118.
   <u>https://www.infoagepub.com/series/Curriculum-and-Teaching-Dialogue</u>
- Baroody, A. E., & Diamond, K. E. (2016). Associations among preschool children's classroom literacy environment, interest and engagement in literacy activities, and early reading skills. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, *14*(2), 146-162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X14529280</u>

- Bautista, A., Habib, M., Eng, A., & Bull, R. (2019). Purposeful play during learning centre time: from curriculum to practice. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *51*(5), 715–736. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2019.1611928
- Bautista, A., Ng, S.-C., Múñez, D., & Bull, R. (2016). Learning areas for holistic education: kindergarten teachers' curriculum priorities, professional development needs, and beliefs. *International Journal of Child Care & Education Policy, 10*(1), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40723-016-0024-4</u>
- Bell, H. (2015). The dead butler revisited: Grammatical accuracy and clarity in the English primary curriculum 2013–2014. *Language and Education*, 29(2), 140-152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09500782.2014.988717</u>
- Biesta, G., Priestley, M., & Robinson, S. (2015). The role of beliefs in teacher agency. *Teachers and Teaching*, *21*(6), 624–

640.https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2015.1044325

- Bodrova, E., & Leong, D. (2015). Vygotskian and post-Vygotskian views on children's play. *American Journal of Play*, 7(3), 372-388.
- Boeckmann, S.,& Nichols, T. (2015). Review of the HighScope curriculum reform programme in Grenada (September to December, 2015). Manitou
   Incorporated.<u>https://www.academia.edu/29566595/REVIEW\_OF\_THE\_HIGHSC\_OPE\_CURRICULUM\_REFORM\_PROGRAMME\_IN\_GRENADA\_SEPTEMB\_ER\_TO\_DECEMBER\_2015</u>

- Booyse, C., & Chetty, R. (2016). The significance of constructivist classroom practice in national curricular design. *Africa Education Review*, 13(1), 135–149. https://doi.org/10.1080/18146627.2016.1182296
- Bormanaki, H. B., &Khoshhal, Y. (2017). The role of equilibration in Piaget's theory of cognitive development and its implication for receptive skills: A theoretical study. *Journal of Language Teaching & Research*, 8(5), 996–1005. https://doi.org/10.17507/jltr.0805.22
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners. Sage.
- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., & Crawford, L. M. (Eds.). (2016). *The scholarpractitioner's guide to research design*. Laureate Publishing.
- Çakiroglu, A. (2018). The language acquisition approaches and the development of literacy skills in children. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 11(2), 201–206.<u>https://doi.org/10.26822/iejee.2019248600</u>
- Cetin, Ö. Ş., Gulhan, M., & Katranci, M. (2018). A study on the effect of pre-school education on early literacy skills. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, 10(5), 201–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.15345/iojes.2018.05.014</u>
- Charles, L., & Williams, S. (2018). *The Caribbean early childhood development good practice guide*. Caribbean Development Bank and the UNICEF Office for the Eastern Caribbean Area. <u>https://www.caribank.org/publications-and-</u> <u>resources/resource-library/guides-and-toolkits/caribbean-early-childhood-</u> <u>development-good-practice-guide</u>

Cheung, R. H. P. (2017). Teacher-directed versus child-centred: the challenge of promoting creativity in Chinese preschool classrooms. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society*, 25(1), 73–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14681366.2016.1217253</u>

Child Trends. (2019). Head Start. https://www.childtrends.org/?indicators=head-start

- Chimbi, G. T., &Jita, L. C. (2019). Willing but unable? Teachers' sense-making of curriculum-reform policy in the early implementation stage. *Pedagogy Studies / Pedagogika*, 135(3), 52–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.15823/p.2019.135.3</u>
- Clasquin-Johnson, M. G.(2016). 'Now and then: Revisiting early childhood teachers' reactions to curriculum change,' *South African Journal of Childhood Education*, 6(1), a408. <u>http://doi.org/10.4102/sajce.v6il.408</u>
- Coldwell, M. (2017). Exploring the influence of professional development on teacher careers: A path model approach. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 61, 189-198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.10.1015</u>
- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2015). *Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and* procedures for developing grounded theory (4th ed.). Sage.
- Crampton, A., & Hall, J. (2017). Unpacking socio-economic risks for reading and academic self-concept in primary school: Differential effects and the role of the preschool home learning environment. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87(3), 365-382.
- Creswell, J. W. (2015). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (5th ed.). Pearson.

- Creswell, J. W. (2016). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (4th ed.). Pearson Education, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*(5th ed.). Sage publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). Sage.
- Daly,L., &Beloglovsky. M.(2015). Loose parts: Inspiring play in young children. Redleaf.
- Dev, M. (2016). Constructivist approach enhances the learning: A search of reality. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(25), 59–62.
- Duncan, G., Jenkins, J., Auger, A., Burchinal, M., Domina, T., & Bitler, M. (2015).
   Boosting school readiness with preschool curricula. *Irvine Network on Interventions in Development*.http://inid.gse.uci.edu/files/2011/03/Duncanetal PreschoolCurricula

March-2015.pdf

Du Plessis, E. (EC). (2020). Student teachers' perceptions, experiences, and challenges regarding learner-centered teaching. *South African Journal of Education*, 40(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.15700/saje.v40n1a1631

Edmonds, W., A. & Kennedy, T. D. (2017). *An applied guide to research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods* (2nd ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.

- Edwards, S., & Bird, J. (2017). Observing and assessing young children's digital play in the early years: Using the digital play framework. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 15(2), 158-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X15579746</u>
- Ekici, F. Y. (2015). Comparison of child- centered approaches applied by pre- school education in terms of theoretical basis, education environment and role of teacher.
   *The Journal of Academic Social Science*, 3(12), 192-212.
- Epstein, A. S. (1993). *Training for quality: Improving early childhood programs through systematic in-service training*. High/Scope Press.
- Ganon-Shilon, S., & Schechter, C. (2017). Making sense while steering through the fog:
   Principals' metaphors within a national reform implementation. *Education Policy Analysis Archives, 25*(105), 1–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.25.2942</u>
- Gaudet, S., & Dominique, R. (2018). *A journey through qualitative research: From design to reporting*. SAGE Publications, Ltd.

https://doi.org/10.4135/9781529716733

Given, L. M., Winkler, D. C., Willson, R., Davidson, C., Danby, S., & Thorpe, K. (2016).
Watching young children "play" with information technology: Everyday life information seeking in the home. *Library and Information Science Research*, 38, 344352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2016.11.007</u>Gleeson, J., Klenowski, V., & Looney, A. (2020). Curriculum change in Australia and Ireland: a comparative study of recent reforms. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *52*(4), 478–497. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2019.1704064 Gokmenoglu, T.,& Clark C, M. (2015). Teachers' evaluation of professional development in support of national reforms. *Issues in Educational Research*, 25(4):442–459.

- Gordon, A, M., & Browne, K, W. (2017). *Beginnings & beyond: Foundations in early childhood education (*10th ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Govender, S. (2018). South African teachers' perspectives on support received in implementing curriculum changes. South African Journal of Education, 38, S1– S12. <u>https://doi.org/10.15700/saje.v38ns2a1484</u>
- Gray, C.,& Ryan, A. (2016). Aistear vis-à-vis the primary curriculum: the experiences of early years' teachers in Ireland. *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 24(2), 188-205.<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669760.2016.1155973</u>
- Gülçiçek, T., Tonga, F. E., & Erden, F. T. (2019). Examining Turkish early childhood education curriculum in terms of mainstream curriculum models. *OndokuzMayis University Journal of Education*, 38(2), 77–106.

https://doi.org/10.7822/omuefd.604939

- Hall, G. (2015). Jere Brophy: The Texas years. *Journal of Classroom Interactions*, 50(2), 102-106.
- Hanfstingl, B., Benke, G., & Zhang, Y. (2019). Comparing variation theory with Piaget's theory of cognitive development: More similarities than differences? *Educational Action Research*, 27(4), 511–526.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2018.1564687

- Haslip, M. J., & Gullo, D. F. (2018). The changing landscape of early childhood education: Implications for policy and practice. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 46(3), 249–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-017-0865-7</u>
- Henward, S. A., Tauaa, M., &Turituri, R. (2019). Contextualizing child-centeredness: Lessons from an American Samoan head start. *Policy Futures in Education*, *17*(3), 383-401. https://doi.org/10.1177/1478210318813249
- HighScope Educational Research Foundation (2020). <u>http://www.highscope.org/our-</u> practice/curriculum/
- Hohmann, M., & Weikart, D. (1995). Educating Young Children. High/Scope Press
- Hong, S. B., Shaffer, L., & Han, J. (2017). Reggio Emilia inspired learning groups:
  Relationships, communication, cognition, and play. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 45(5), 629-639. https://doi.org/ <u>10.1007/s10643-016-0811-0</u>
- Isik, A. D. (2018). Use of technology in constructivist approach. *Educational Research and Reviews*, *13*(21), 704–711.
- Kaur, P. (2017). Social environment and construction of knowledge within Piagetian perspective. GYANODAYA: The Journal of Progressive Education, 10(1), 14-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.5958/2229-4422.2017.00003.2</u>
- Khomais, S., &Gahwaji, N. (2019). Early childhood curriculum reform in Saudi Arabia conceptualization of theories in early childhood curricula: Three models. *Journal* of Curriculum and Teaching, 8(3), 24–34.https://doi.org/10.5430/jct.v8n3p24

- Kimosop, H. (2018). Administrative support provided to teachers during implementation of early childhood development and education curriculum. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 4(8), 244-252. <u>http://dio.org10.5281/zenodo.1287724</u>
- Krahenbuhl, K. S. (2016). Student-centered education and constructivism: Challenges, concerns, and clarity for teachers. *Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas, 89*(3), 97–

105.<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2016.1191311</u>Krueger, R. A., & Casey, M.

A. (2015). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research.(5th ed.). Sage.

- Lerkkanen, M.-K., Kiuru, N., Pakarinen, E., Poikkeus, A.-M., Rasku-Puttonen, H., Siekkinen, M., & Nurmi, J.-E. (2016). Child-centered versus teacher-directed teaching practices: Associations with the development of academic skills in the first grade at school. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 36, 145–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.12.023</u>
- Lia, M. (2016). Using an observation coaching checklist to provide feedback to teachers. Journal of Catholic Education, 20(1), 311-323. doi:10.15365/joce.2001152016
- Li, H., & Chen, J. J. (2017). Evolution of the early childhood curriculum in China: the impact of social and cultural factors on revolution and innovation. *Early Child Development & Care*, 187(10), 1471–1483.

https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2016.1220373

Lipsey, M. W., Farran, D. C., & Durkin, K. (2018). Effects of the Tennessee prekindergarten program on children's achievement and behavior through third grade. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 45, 155– 176.<u>https://doi.10.1016/j.ecresq.2018.03.005</u>Lochner, B., Conrad, R., & Graham,
E. (2015). Secondary teachers' concerns in adopting learning management
systems: A US perspective. *TechTrends: Linking Research and Practice to Improve Learning, 59*(5), 62-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-015-0892-4</u>

- Logan, H., Sumsion, J., & Press, F. (2015) 'The council of Australian government reforms (2007–2013): A critical juncture in Australian early childhood education and care (ECEC) policy?', *International Journal of Child Care and Education Policy 9*(1), 1–16. <u>http://doi.org/10.1186/s40723-015-0011-1</u>
- MacDonald, A., Barton, G., Baguley, M., & Hartwig, K. (2016). Teachers' curriculum stories: Perceptions and preparedness to enact change. *Educational Philosophy* and Theory, 48(13), 1336-1351. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2016.1210496</u>
- Margolis, J., Durbin, R., & Doring, A. (2017). The missing link in teacher professional development: Student presence. *Professional Development in Education*, 43(1), 23-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257</u>
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). Designing qualitative research (6th ed.). Sage.
- McKenney, S., & Bradley, B. (2016). Assessing teacher beliefs about early literacy curriculum implementation. *Early Child Development and Care*, 186(9), 1415– 1428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2015.1096784</u>

McNally, S. A., & Slutsky, R. (2016). Key elements of the Reggio Emilia approach and how they are interconnected to create the highly regarded system of early childhood education. *Early Child Development & Care*, *187*(12), 1925–1937. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2016.1197920</u>

- McNeill, K. L., Katsh-Singer, R., Gonzalez-Howard, M., & Loper, S. (2016). Factors impacting teachers' argumentation instruction in their science classrooms. *International Journal of Science Education*, 38(12), 2026-2046.<u>https://doiorg/10.1080/09500693.2016.1221547</u>
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Mikser, R., Kärner, A., & Krull, E. (2016). Enhancing teachers' curriculum ownership via teacher engagement in state-based curriculum-making: the Estonian case. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 48(6), 833-855.
  http://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2016.1186742
- Miller-First, M. S., & Ballard, K. L. (2017). Constructivist teaching patterns and student interactions. *Internet Learning Journal*, 6(1), 25–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.18278/il.6.1.3</u>
- Miller, E., Forde, G., & Gentles, C. (2020). Final report: vol.1 organizational audit of five units: Ministry of Education, Human Resource Development and Religious Affairs, Grenada. Ministry of Education, Human Resource Development and Religious Affairs.
- Mligo, I. R. (2016). Teachers' perceptions and concerns about the implementation of the 2005 preschool curriculum in Tanzania. *Early Years: An International Journal of Research and Development*, 36(4), 353–

367.<u>https://doi.org/10/1080/09575146.2015.1115825</u>

Morrison, G. S. (2015). Early childhood education today (13th ed.). Pearson.

- Muller, M., Gorsetman, C., & Alexander, S. T. (2018). Struggles and successes in constructivist Jewish early childhood classrooms. *Journal of Jewish Education*, 84(3), 284–311.https://doi.org/10.1080/15244113.2018.1478533
- Nevenglosky, E. A., Cale, C., & Aguilar, S. P. (2019). Barriers to effective curriculum implementation. *Research in Higher Education Journal*, *36*.
- Newman, S. (2018). Vygotsky, Wittgenstein, and sociocultural theory. *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour, 48*(3), 350–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jtsb.12174</u>
- Ngwenya, V. C. (2020). Curriculum implementation challenges encountered by primary school teachers in Bulawayo metropolitan province, Zimbabwe. *Africa Education Review*, *17*(2), 158–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18146627.2018.1549953</u>
- Nichols, J. B. (2017). Piaget and the common core: Is it the "American question?" *International Journal of Pedagogy & Curriculum, 24*(1), 17–25.
- Ntumi, S. (2016). Challengespre-school teachers face in the implementation of the early childhood curriculum in the Cape Coast Metropolis. *Journal of Education and Practice*, *7*(1), 54–62.
- Nyland, B., & Ng, J. (2016). International perspectives on early childhood curriculum changes in Singapore and Australia. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal, 24*(3), 465-476.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2015.1102416

Omaga, J. F., & Alieto, E. O. (2019). Teaching literacy through play: Perspective from Filipino early childhood teachers. *Sci.Int.(Lahore)*, *31*(3), 477–481.

- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Weinbaum, R. K. (2017). A framework for using qualitative comparative analysis for the review of the literature. *The Qualitative Report*, *22*(2), 359-372.
- Organization of Eastern Caribbean States. (2017). Education statistical digest 2017: Statistics on education for the academic year 2015-

2016.https://view.joomag.com/oecs-education-statistical-digest-2015-

2016/0973836001528471152?short

- Öztürk, D. S. (2016). Is learning only a cognitive process? Or does it occur in a sociocultural environment?: "constructivism" in the eyes of preschool teachers. *Journal of Education and Training Studies, 4*(4), 153–159. https://doi.org/10.11114/jets.v4i4.1268
- Pardjono, P. (2016). Active learning: The Dewey, Piaget, Vygotsky, and constructivist theory perspectives. *JurnalIlmu*

Pendidikan, 3.https://doi.org/10.17977/jip.v9i3.48

Park, Y. J. (2018). The Waldorf school movement in the US midwest. Asia- Pacific Early Childhood Education Research Association, 12(3), 121–142. https://doi.com/10.17206/apjrece.2018.12.3.121

Patton, M, Q. (2015). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (4th ed.). Sage.

Peckham, K. (2017). Developing school readiness. Creating lifelong learners.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526419286</u>Petrová, Z., & Zápotocná, O. (2018).
 Early literacy education in preschool curriculum reforms: The case of post-communist Slovakia. *Global Education Review*, 5(2), 145–159.

- Phillips, B. M., Ingrole, S. A., Burris, P. W., &Tabulda, G. (2017). Investigating predictors of fidelity of implementation for a preschool vocabulary and language curriculum. *Early Child Development & Care, 187*(3/4), 542–553. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2016.1251428
- Piaget, J. (1926). Extracts from Piaget's theory (Warden, M. Trans.) (3rd ed.). *The Language and Thought of the Child*. Harcourt, Brace & Co. Inc.

Piaget, J. (1962). Play, dreams and imitation in childhood. Norton & Co. Inc.

Piaget, J. (1973). The child and reality: Problems of genetic psychology. (Trans. Arnold Rosin). Grossman.

Putman, R. S. (2017). Technology versus teachers in the early literacy classroom: An investigation of the effectiveness of the situation integrated learning system. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 65(5), 1153-1174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-016-9499-5</u>

- Prendergast, M., & Treacy, P. (2017). Curriculum reform in irish secondary schools: A focus on algebra. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 50(1), 126–143. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2017.1313315</u>
- Prioletta, J., &Poliszczuk, D. (2018). The Play-Literacy Interface in Full-day Kindergarten Classrooms. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 46(1), 117–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-017-0852-z</u>
- Pyle, A., & Danniels, E. (2017). A continuum of play-based learning: The role of the teacher in play-based pedagogy and the fear of hijacking play. *Early Education*

and Development, 28(3), 274–289.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2016.1220771

- Pyle, A., Poliszcuzuk, D., & Danniels, E. (2018). The challenges of promoting literacy integration within a play-based learning kindergarten program: Teacher perspectives and implementation. Journal of Research in Childhood *Education* 23(2), 29-233.<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2017.1416006</u>
- Qamar, S., Qayyum, A., Laasi, S., & Ashraf, D. (2012). "Exploring the current practices and perceptions of ECD teachers for the implementation of high scope curricular teaching approach." In Search of Relevance and Sustainability of Educational Change: An International Conference at Aga Khan University Institute for Educational Development, November 1-3, 2012, 465-496.http://ecommons.aku.edu/pakistan\_ied\_pdck/229
- Rajab, A., & Wright, N. (2020). The idea of autonomy and its interplay with culture in child-centered education: evidence from practitioners in preschools in Saudi
  Arabia. Early Years: *Journal of International Research & Development, 40*(2), 174–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/09575146.2018.1434134
- Rajab, A., & Wright, N. (2018). Government constructions of the pedagogical relationship between teachers and children in Saudi preschool education: issues of adoption or adaptation? *Pedagogy, Culture & Society, 26*(4), 547–560. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681366.2018.1427140
- Ravitch, S.,& Carl, N. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* Sage Publications, Inc.

- Reynolds, D., & Daniel, S. (2017). Toward contingency in sca□olding reading comprehension: Next steps for research. *Reading Research Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.1002/rrg.200
- Riley-Ayers, S. (2018). "Introduction." In *Spotlight on Young Children: Observation and Assessment*, eds. H. Bohart & R. Procopio, 1–5. NAEYC.
- Roessingh, H., & Bence, M. (2019). Embodied cognition: Laying the foundation for early language and literacy learning. *Language and Literacy*, 20(4), 23–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.20360/langandlit29435</u>
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Saldana, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3rd ed.). London, UK: Sage.
- Samuelsson, I. P., Sheridan, S., & Williams, P. (2006). Five preschool curricula -Comparative perspective. *International Journal of Early Childhood*, 38(1), 11– 30.https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03165975
- Sawyer, J. (2017). I think I can: Preschoolers' private speech and motivation in playful versus non-playful contexts. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 38, 84–96. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2016.09.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2016.09.004</a>

Schaefer, R. (2016). Teacher inquiry on the influence of materials on children's learning (Voices). *Young* 

Children.https://www.naeyc.org/resources/pubs/yc/nov2016/teacher-inquirymaterials Schwandt, T. A. (2015). The SAGE dictionary of qualitative inquiry (4th ed.). Sage.

- Schweinhart, L. J., & Weikart, D. P. (1997). The High/Scope preschool curriculum comparison study through age 23. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 12, 117-143.
- Shabani, K. (2016). Implications of Vygotsky's sociocultural theory for second language(L2) assessment. *Cogent Education*, 3(1).

https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2016.1242459

- Shah, R. K. (2019). Effective constructivist teaching learning in the classroom. Shanlax International Journal of Education, 7(4), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.34293/education.v7i4.600
- Sharkins, K., Newton, A., Causey, C., & Ernest, J. M. (2017). Flipping theory: Ways in which children's experiences in the 21st century classroom can provide insight into the theories of Piaget and Vygotsky. *International Journal of Early Childhood Education and Care*, 6, 11–18.

Silverman, D. (2016). Qualitative research. Sage.

- Slavin, R. E., & Chambers, B. (2017). Evidence-based reform: enhancing language and literacy in early childhood education. *Early Child Development and Care*, 187(3–4), 778–784. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2016.1211121</u>
- Smit, T., & du Toit, P. (2016). Transforming beginner teacher mentoring interventions for social reform. *South African Journal of Education*, 36(3), 1-12.

- Soysal, Y.,&Radmard, S. (2017). An exploration of Turkish teachers' attributions to barriers faced within learner-centred teaching. *Educational Studies*, 43(2):186– 209. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2016.1248903
- Ştefan, M. A. (2017). Using constructivist theory in e-learning effectively. *ELearning & Software for Education*, 1, 244–249. https://doi.org/10.12753/2066-026X-17-036
- Tan, C. (2017). Constructivism and pedagogical reform in China: issues and challenges. *Globalisation, Societies & Education, 15*(2), 238–247.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14767724.2015.1105737</u>
- Taylor, C., Rhys M., & Waldron S. (2016). Implementing curriculum reform in Wales: the case of the Foundation Phase. Oxford Review of Education, 42(3), 299-315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2016.1184872</u>
- Terrell, P., & Watson, M. (2018). Laying a firm foundation: Embedding evidence-based emergent literacy practices into early intervention and preschool environments. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 49(2), 148–164. https://doi.org/10.1044/2017 LSHSS-17-0053
- Theodotou, E. (2019). Examining literacy development holistically using the play and learn through the arts (PLA) programme: A case study. *Early Child Development and Care*, *189*(3), 488–499.<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2017.1326914</u>

Tiilikainen, M., Karjalainen, J., Toom, A., Lepola, J., &Husu, J. (2019). The complex zone of constructivist teaching: a multi-case exploration in primary classrooms. *Research Papers in Education*, 34(1), 38–60.
<a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2017.1402080">https://doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2017.1402080</a>

- Tuncer, B. (2015). Investigation of contemporary approaches in early childhood education and comparison with the Ministry of National Education Preschool Program. *International Journal of Field Education*, 1 (2), 39-58.
- Vaishali& Misra, P. K. (2019). Teaching teachers to use constructivist approaches: A proposal. *Journal on School Educational Technology*, 14(4), 56– 63.https://doi.org/10.26634/jsch.14.4.15651
- Veraksa, N., Shiyan, O., Shiyan, I., Pramling, N., &Pramling-Samuelsson, I. (2016). Communication between teacher and child in early child education: Vygotskian theory and educational practice. *Infancia Y Aprendizaje /Journal for the Study of Education and Development, 39*(2), 221-

243.<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02103702.2015.1133091</u>

- Vygotsky, L. (1966). Play and its role in the mental development of the child. *Soviet Psychology, 12* (6), 62-75.
- Vygotsky, L. (1986). Thought and language. Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher mental processes*. Harvard University Press.
- Weiland, C., McCormick, M., Mattera, S., Maier, M., & Morris, P. (2018). Preschool curricula and professional development features for getting to high-quality implementation at scale: A comparative review across five trials. *AERA Open*, *4*(1), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858418757735</u>

- Wood, E., & Hedges, H. (2016). Curriculum in early childhood education: critical questions about content, coherence, and control. *Curriculum Journal*, *27*(3), 387–405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09585176.2015.1129981</u>
- Yang, W., & Li, H. (2019). Changing culture, changing curriculum: a case study of early childhood curriculum innovations in two Chinese kindergartens. *Curriculum Journal*, 30(3), 279–297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09585176.2019.1568269</u>
- Yin, R.K. (2016). *Qualitative research from start to finish*. (2nd ed.).GuilfordPublications, Inc.
- Zhu, J. (2015) 'Early childhood education and relative policies in China. International Journal of Child Care and Education Policy 3(1):51–60. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/2288-6729-3-1-51</u>
- Zindi, F. (2018). Zimbabwean teachers' concerns regarding the implementation of the new curriculum. *Zimbabwe Journal of Educational Research*, *30*(1), 25–35.

## Appendix A: Interview Questions for Preschool Teachers

Demographics

What is your highest level of qualification?

What is the specific area of your highest level of qualification?

How long have you been a preschool teacher?

How long have you been using the HighScope Curriculum in your classroom?

- Tell me about your professional development sessions related to the implementation of HighScope program. 1a. What was most positive about the session? 1b. Were there any negatives?
- 2. Describe your understanding of the HighScope curriculum as it relates to the guiding principles?
- 3. What is your perspective on balancing child-initiated and teacher-directed activities in the preschool classroom? 3a. Can you give me an example of how this occurs in your classroom?
- 4. What factors do you think influence the effective implementation of the HigScope curriculum?
- 5. What has been your experience trying to implement the HighScope curriculum?5a. What is working? 5b. What is not working well?
- 6. Tell me about the challenges you are currently facing regarding the implementation of the HighScope curriculum.
- 7. What support you received in implementing the HighScope curriculum?

- 8. What support do you feel teachers need to be able to successfully implement the HighScope curriculum?
- 9. What else will you like to share as it relates to the implementation of the HighScope curriculum?

## Appendix B: Interview Questions for ECE Officer

# Demographics

What is your highest level of qualification?

What is the specific area of your highest level of qualification?

How long have you been in the current position?

- Tell me about your roles and responsibilities as an early childhood education officer.
- 2. Tell about your routine during a visit at the preschools.
- 3. Explain your understanding of the HighScope curriculum as it relates to the guiding principles?
- 4. What is your perspective on how teachers are balancing child-initiated and teacher-directed activities in the preschool classroom?
- 5. Tell me about the challenges teachers are currently facing regarding the implementation of the HighScope curriculum.
- 6. What factors do you think influence the effective implementation of the HighScope curriculum?
- 7. Tell me about the professional development teachers received regarding the implementation of the HighScope curriculum.
- 8. What support did you or the Ministry of Education provided for teachers relating to the implementation of the HighScope curriculum?
- 9. What support do you feel teachers need to be able to successfully implement the HighScope curriculum?

10. What else will you like to share as it relates to the implementation of the

HighScope curriculum?